
 
 

 
 

L I C E N S I N G  
C O M M I T T E E  

 

Monday, 25 March 2024 at 7.00 pm  
 

Hackney Town Hall, 
Mare Street, E8 1EA 

 
Live stream link: https://youtube.com/live/DqFw3988_mg 

 

Back up link: https://youtube.com/live/RoS7fE4lF-Y 
 
 

Members of the Committee: 
Councillor Gilbert Smyth (Chair), Councillor Sophie Conway, Councillor Susan 
Fajana-Thomas, Councillor Christopher Kennedy, Councillor Richard Lufkin 
(Vice Chair), Councillor Yvonne Maxwell, Councillor Sem Moema, Councillor 
Sharon Patrick, Councillor Midnight Ross, Councillor Anya Sizer, Councillor 
Sheila Suso-Runge, Councillor Joe Walker, and Councillor Penny Wrout 
 
 
Dawn Carter-McDonald 
Interim Chief Executive 
Published om: 15 March 2024 
www.hackney.gov.uk 

 
Contact: Natalie Williams   

Senior Governance Officer 
governance@hackney.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 

 

https://youtube.com/live/DqFw3988_mg
https://youtube.com/live/RoS7fE4lF-Y
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/
mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

Licensing Committee 
 

Monday, 25 March 2024 
 

Order of Business 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence 

 
2. Declarations of Interest 

Members are invited to consider the guidance which accompanies this 
agenda and make declarations as appropriate. 
 

3. Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 9-16) 
To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting held on 10 January 2024 
 

3a.   Minutes of Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings - To follow 
To confirm the minutes of any Licensing Sub-Committees 

 
4. Questions to the Committee 

Councillors as well as members of the public who live, work, or study in the 
Borough can ask a question of the Committee with one supplementary 
question relating to an item on the agenda. 
 
Questions should be submitted to governance@hackney.gov.uk by Monday 
18 March 2024 
 
At the discretion of the Chair, a question may be asked at the Committee 
without having given notice; however, it may not be possible to give a full 
answer at the meeting and a written response will be provided. 
 

5. Late Night Levy - Year 7, Quarter 1 (Pages 17-23) 
 

6. Draft Statement of Principles for Gambling (Pages 25-95) 
 
7. Any Other Business 
 

Dates of Future Meetings 
This is the last Licensing Committee Meeting for the 2023/24. Committee meeting 
dates for 2024/25 will be agreed at the Annual Council Meeting on 15 May 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

Public Attendance  
 
The Town Hall is open. Information on forthcoming Council meetings can be 
obtained from the Town Hall Reception.  
 
Members of the public and representatives of the press are entitled to attend Council 
meetings and remain and hear discussions on matters within the public part of the 
meeting. They are not, however, entitled to participate in any discussions. Council 
meetings can also be observed via the live-stream facility, the link for which appears 
on the agenda front sheet of each committee meeting.  
 
On occasions part of the meeting may be held in private and will not be open to the 
public. This is if an item being considered is likely to lead to the disclosure of exempt 
or confidential information in accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). Reasons for exemption will be specified for 
each respective agenda item.  
 
For further information, including public participation, please visit our website 
https://hackney.gov.uk/menu#get-involved-council-decisions or contact:  
governance@hackney.gov.uk 
 
 
 
Rights of Press and Public to Report on Meetings   
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 give the public the 
right to film, record audio, take photographs, and use social media and the internet at 
meetings to report on any meetings that are open to the public. 
 
By attending a public meeting of the Council, Executive, any committee or sub-
committee, any Panel or Commission, or any Board you are agreeing to these 
guidelines as a whole and in particular the stipulations listed below: 
 

• Anyone planning to record meetings of the Council and its public meetings 
through any audio, visual or written methods they find appropriate can do so 
providing they do not disturb the conduct of the meeting;  

• You are welcome to attend a public meeting to report proceedings, either in 
‘real time’ or after the conclusion of the meeting, on a blog, social networking 
site, news forum or other online media;  

• You may use a laptop, tablet device, smartphone or portable camera to record 
a written or audio transcript of proceedings during the meeting; 

• Facilities within the Town Hall and Council Chamber are limited and recording 
equipment must be of a reasonable size and nature to be easily 
accommodated. 

• You are asked to contact the Officer whose name appears at the beginning of 
this Agenda if you have any large or complex recording equipment to see 
whether this can be accommodated within the existing facilities;  

• You must not interrupt proceedings and digital equipment must be set to 
‘silent’ mode;  

• You should focus any recording equipment on Councillors, officers and the 
public who are directly involved in the conduct of the meeting. The Chair of 

https://hackney.gov.uk/menu#get-involved-council-decisions
mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

the meeting will ask any members of the public present if they have objections 
to being visually recorded. Those visually recording a meeting are asked to 
respect the wishes of those who do not wish to be filmed or photographed. 
Failure to respect the wishes of those who do not want to be filmed and 
photographed may result in the Chair instructing you to cease reporting or 
recording and you may potentially be excluded from the meeting if you fail to 
comply;  

• Any person whose behaviour threatens to disrupt orderly conduct will be 
asked to leave;   

• Be aware that libellous comments against the council, individual Councillors 
or officers could result in legal action being taken against you; 

• The recorded images must not be edited in a way in which there is a clear aim 
to distort the truth or misrepresent those taking part in the proceedings; 

• Personal attacks of any kind or offensive comments that target or disparage 
any ethnic, racial, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability status 
could also result in legal action being taken against you. 

 
Failure to comply with the above requirements may result in the support and 
assistance of the Council in the recording of proceedings being withdrawn. The 
Council regards violation of any of the points above as a risk to the orderly conduct 
of a meeting. The Council therefore reserves the right to exclude any person from 
the current meeting and refuse entry to any further council meetings, where a breach 
of these requirements occurs. The Chair of the meeting will ensure that the meeting 
runs in an effective manner and has the power to ensure that the meeting is not 
disturbed through the use of flash photography, intrusive camera equipment or the 
person recording the meeting moving around the room. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
Advice to Members on Declaring Interests 
 
If you require advice on declarations of interests, this can be obtained from: 
 

• The Monitoring Officer; 
• The Deputy Monitoring Officer; or 
• The legal adviser to the meeting. 

 
It is recommended that any advice be sought in advance of, rather than at, the 
meeting. 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) 
 
You will have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (*DPI) if it: 
 

• Relates to your employment, sponsorship, contracts as well as wider financial 
interests and assets including land, property, licences and corporate 
tenancies. 

• Relates to an interest which you have registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to DPIs as being an interest of you, your spouse or civil 
partner, or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse or civil partner. 

• Relates to an interest which should be registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to DPIs, but you have not yet done so.  

 
If you are present at any meeting of the Council and you have a DPI relating to any 
business that will be considered at the meeting, you must: 
 

• Not seek to improperly influence decision-making on that matter; 
• Make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI at or before 

the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent; and 

• Leave the room whilst the matter is under consideration 
 
You must not: 
 

• Participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 
aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business; or 

• Participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 
 
If you have obtained a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or Standards 
Committee prior to the matter being considered, then you should make a verbal 
declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI and that you have obtained a 
dispensation. The dispensation granted will explain the extent to which you are able 
to participate.  
 
Other Registrable Interests 
 
You will have an ‘Other Registrable Interest’ (ORI) in a matter if it 
 



 
 

• Relates to appointments made by the authority to any outside bodies, 
membership of: charities, trade unions,, lobbying or campaign groups, 
voluntary organisations in the borough or governorships at any educational 
institution within the borough. 

• Relates to an interest which you have registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to ORIs as being an interest of you, your spouse or civil 
partner, or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse or civil partner; 
or 

• Relates to an interest which should be registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to ORIs, but you have not yet done so.  

 
Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which affects a body or 
organisation you have named in that part of the Register of Interests Form relating to 
ORIs, you must make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI at 
or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any 
discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have 
been granted a dispensation.  
 
 
Disclosure of Other Interests 
 
Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which directly relates to your 
financial interest or well-being or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or 
close associate, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must 
not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 
room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which affects your financial 
interest or well-being, or a financial interest of well-being of a relative or close 
associate to a greater extent than it affects the financial interest or wellbeing of the 
majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and a reasonable 
member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would affect your 
view of the wider public interest, you must declare the interest. You may only speak 
on the matter if members of the public are able to speak. Otherwise you must not 
take part in any discussion or voting on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
In all cases, where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that the interest in question is a 
sensitive interest, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest itself.



 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY, 10 JANUARY 2024 
 
Councillors Present:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Apologies:  
 

Councillor Gilbert Smyth in the Chair 
 
 
Cllr Susan Fajana-Thomas, Cllr Zoe Garbett,  
Cllr Richard Lufkin, Cllr Yvonne Maxwell, Cllr 
Sem Moema and Cllr Sheila Suso-Runge  
 
Cllr Sophie Conway, Cllr Christopher Kennedy, Cllr 
Anya Sizer, Cllr Joe Walker and Cllr Penny Wrout  

  
  
Officers in Attendance: Gerry McCarthy - Head of Community Safety, 

Enforcement and Business Regulation 
Samantha Mathys – Late Night Levy Manager  
Amanda Nauth – Licensing and Corporate Lawyer 
David Tuitt – Team Leader, Business Regulation 
Team Leader  
Natalie Williams – Senior Governance Officer  

  
   
 
The Chair welcomed all present to the meeting. It was noted that Cllr Patrick had 
replaced Cllr Rathbone on the Committee. 
  
1 Apologies for Absence  
  
1.1      Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Conway, Kennedy, 

Patrick, Sizer, Walker and Wrout   
  
1.2      It was noted that Councillor Sizer had joined the meeting remotely.  
  
1.3      Councillors accessing the meeting remotely, were reminded that they were not 

counted as being ‘present’ for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972 
and may not vote on any item under consideration. At the discretion of the 
Chair, may however contribute to the discussion and participate in non-decision 
making capacity. 

 
2 Declarations of Interest  
 
2.1     For the purpose of openness and transparency, in relation to agenda item 7, the 

following Councillors made declarations as follows: Cllr Maxwell ward 
Councillor for Hoxton West, Cllr Lufkin ward Councillor for Shacklewell, Cllr 
Sizer ward Councillor for Hoxton East and Shoreditch and Cllr Garbett ward 
Councillor and resident of Dalston It was noted that these wards bordered or 
included areas which were to be discussed at agenda item7 - Cumulative 
Impact Options. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



Wednesday 10 January 2024  
 
3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting  
 
3.1 Cllr Maxwell requested that an additional sentence be inserted at Paragraph 

4.5 bullet point 4 to reflect that ward Councillors were not consulted as part of 
the cumulative impact research.  

  
Subject to the aforementioned insertion the Licensing Committee:  

  
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 14 November 2023 be 
agreed as a true and accurate record of proceedings.  
 
4 Questions to the Committee  
 
4.1     Question from Kerry Maisey and  Dan Beaumont  

Given the extensive and robust evidence presented in the commissioned report 
which suggests that the Cumulative Impact area in Dalston is no longer 
proportionate, we would like to ask the Committee what type of evidence and 
reporting would councillors require in the future if they were to accept that 
Dalston no longer has activity that would warrant a Cumulative Impact Area? 
  

4.2     The Chair advised that a question had been received from a member of the 
public. As the question related to the Cumulative Impact Options at agenda 
item 7, it was agreed that this question would be considered at the relevant 
agenda item. 

 
5 Late Night Levy - Year 6, Quarter 3 and 4 Update  
 
5.1     Samantha Mathys, Late Night Levy Manager briefly introduced the report which 

provided an update on the Late Night Levy activities during the third quarter of 
Year 6, from 1 May to 31 August and 1 September to 31 July 2023. The 
following points were highlighted:  

  

• Training levels remained high with over 2,600 individuals trained since the 
inception of the program, with free monthly sessions confirmed until 2025. 

• The #DontCrosstheLine campaign and connected welfare activities were 
the primary focus of the past few months. There had been lots of 
engagement and a full summary would be presented at the next committee 
meeting.  

• 100% of all licensed bars, pubs and clubs which had been visited had been 
added to the portal. All of these venues now had an account, received 
weekly briefings and manager details were held. 

• The accreditation scheme was still ongoing with nearly 30 venues 
accredited with more applications incoming. There would be further 
promotion of the scheme in the coming months.  

• A new noise and planning checker aimed at implementing more business 
friendly licensing, planning and noise processes was launched following 
funding from the Greater London Assembly (GLA) 

  
 

Page 10



Wednesday 10 January 2024  
5.2      Following the summary of the main points, a brief discussion ensued where the 

following was raised:  
  

• The original accreditation target was set at 50. There were currently 30 
venues accredited. This would be reported in terms of percentages at the 
next meeting.  

• Members welcomed the newly added courses including; gender diversity 
and the LGBTQIA+ as well as the #DontCrosstheLine campaign. 

• The noise and planning checker would enable venues to be notified when a 
noise report (including unsubstantiated complaints) was made against 
them. This would enable issues to be addressed in real time (before the 
following weekend) 

• Multiple stakeholders were involved in the working group for the  
#DontCrosstheLine campaign. Young people were also consulted and a 
perpetrator approach had been adopted.  

• The Metropolitan Police were using Hackney as a model of best practice. 
They were investigating how they could further contribute and how this 
could be rolled out across other boroughs.  

• The intention was to establish zero tolerance spaces in the Night Time 
Economy (NTE), where any form of harassment, hate or abuse was not 
tolerated. Work had been undertaken with venues to change the culture, 
ethos and response to such incidents. Success rate would be measured 
through a variety of means including crime figures, incident and CCTV 
reports and level of engagement with the campaign. 

• Drink spiking remained an area of concern and was an ongoing focus of 
training. This had led to some positive responses from venues in 
intercepting such activities.  

• There were no NTE related sexual offences over the festive period.  
  
RESOLVED: To note the report and appendix.  
 
6 Licensing Service Annual Report 2022/23  
 
6.1      David Tuitt, Business Regulation Team Leader gave a broad overview of the 

report, highlighting the following:  

• Premises licences remained the focus of Licensing Sub-Committee 
hearings. There had been a continued fall in the number of new 
applications received over the past five years.  

• The number of variations and transfers remained consistent. 
• Temporary Event Notices (TENs) numbers had increased but these had not 

returned to pre-pandemic levels. Hackney received the second highest 
number of TENs in London after Westminster. However, Camden, which 
had a significant NTE, did not return statistics.  

• The number of reviews overall compared to the previous year had fallen. 
• Massage and Special Treatment Licences appeared to be returning to pre-

pandemic levels.  
• New applications considered under the Gambling Act and renewal of 

gambling licences remained consistent. 
• Key activities for the forthcoming year included: the Hackney NIghts 

initiative, more inspection of licensed premises and the continued 
implementation of new software.  

Page 11



Wednesday 10 January 2024  
  

6.2      The Chair and committee welcomed the report and asked questions which 
were responded to as follows:  

• Anecdotally, there was believed to have been a shift in how people 
socialise, with working from home and economic challenges being 
significant contributing factors. This was believed to be more prevalent in 
areas of the borough closest to the city.  

• The number of TENs was simply due to the nature of the NTE 
• The spike in the revocation of licences was due to one premises having 3 

licences, which were all subject to review under section 51 of the Licensing 
Act 2003. All three proceeded to a summary review, resulting in one 
premises having 6 review applications. The decision was taken to revoke all 
three licences.  

  
RESOLVED: To note the report and appendix 
 
7 Cumulative Impact Options  
 
7.1      The Chair advised that the question submitted and set out at agenda item 4 

would be considered under this item as it related to paragraph 18 of Appendix 1 
of the report. It was noted that Ms Kerry Maisey and Dan Beaumont were Co-
Chairs of Dalston Pubwatch and members of the Late Night Levy Board  

  
7.2       Question from Kerry Maisey and Dan Beaumont to the Chair of Licensing 
  

Given the extensive and robust evidence presented in the commissioned report 
which suggests that the Cumulative Impact area in Dalston is no longer 
proportionate, we would like to ask the Committee what type of evidence and 
reporting would councillors require in the future if they were to accept that 
Dalston no longer has activity that would warrant a Cumulative Impact Area? 

  
The question related to Paragraph 18 of Appendix 1 of the report which reads:  

  
“A Home Office Impact Assessment (November 2016) on giving CIAs a 
statutory basis said “it will place a greater onus on licensing authorities (LAs) to 
ensure that the evidence they use as the basis of their CIAs is robust. In 
particular, we would like to increase the transparency of the process that LAs 
go through when deciding to retain existing CIPs and ensure that when a 
decision is taken by an LA to implement or retain a CIA it is based on up to date 
evidence and is appropriate and proportionate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives” 

  
            Response from the Chair of Licensing 
  

The Chair advised that at its meeting on 14th November 2023, some Members 
of the Licensing Committee expressed a view that a special policy should apply 
to some, if not all of the previously defined Dalston Special Policy Area (SPA). 
The Chair further advised that no decision had been made in relation to a 
consultation on publishing a Cumulative Impact Assessment which would set 
out a policy approach in Dalston. The Licensing Committee was considering an 
Options Paper at this evening’s meeting.  
  

Page 12



Wednesday 10 January 2024  
The Chair referred to paragraph 14.29 of the guidance issued by the Home 
Office which set out the information that local authorities could draw on when 
considering cumulative impact. This included: 
 

• local crime and disorder statistics, including statistics on specific types of 
crime and crime hotspots; 

• statistics on local anti-social behaviour offences; 
• health-related statistics such as alcohol-related emergency attendances 

and hospital admissions; 
• environmental health complaints, particularly in relation to litter and 

noise; 
• complaints recorded by the local authority, which may include complaints 

raised by local residents or residents’ associations; 
• residents’ questionnaires; 
• evidence from local and parish councillors; and 
• evidence obtained through local consultation. 

   
Concluding, the Chair stated that should Members be minded to agree to 
consult, the Committee would take into consideration any views, comments and 
further evidence received during any consultation in making a final decision. 

  
The Cabinet Member for Community Safety and Regulatory Services gave 
assurances that a decision had not yet been taken and requested that this be 
relayed to members of Dalston Pubwatch. 
  
Ms Maisey did not have a supplementary question. She believed that the 
evidence presented at the previous Licensing Committee meeting in November 
2023 demonstrated that a Cumulative Impact area within Dalston was no longer 
necessary. Concerns were expressed that this would be disregarded in favour 
of anecdotal evidence and a status quo approach.  
  
Concluding, David Tuitt, Business Regulation Team Leader explained that the 
Licensing Policy had been in place since August 2023 and did not define any 
Special Policy areas. The next steps would be: to decide whether or not to 
consult on publishing a Cumulative Impact Assessment; give an indication of 
the areas to be included in the assessment; and give an indication whether the 
assessment would be applicable to all authorisations or identified licences. 

  
7.3      David Tuitt, Business Regulation Team Leader introduced the report, 

highlighting the following: 

• Members were requested to consider the options contained within the 
Options Paper at Appendix 1 in relation to: the former Shoreditch Special 
Policy Area, the former Dalston Special Policy area, an area of Broadway 
Market and London Fields, an area of Hackney Central and an area of 
Hackney Wick  

• CIAs may be published by Licensing Authorities to help limit licensing 
applications where there was evidence to show that the density of licensed 
premises had a negative cumulative impact on the promotion of the 
licensing objectives.  

• A CIA would apply to applications for new and variation premises licences, 
club premises certificates 

Page 13



Wednesday 10 January 2024  
• The Licensing Act 2003 sets out the steps to be carried out in order to 

publish a CIA. There is a requirement to consult and any CIA published 
must be summarised in the Licensing Authory’s Licensing Policy. 

• Persons prescribed in the Act must be provided with: reasons for 
considering a CIA, a general indication of the areas/boundaries and what 
authorisations it would relate to.  

• The research and findings presented by Six til Six discussed at the previous 
meeting, which could be found at: 
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g5835/Printed%20minutes%2
0Tuesday%2014-Nov-
2023%2019.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=1 

• The areas of Broadway Market & London Fields, Hackney Central 
and Hackney Wick were not found to be experiencing cumulative impact 
and requiring further intervention. The areas that remained for 
consideration were former Special Policy Areas Shoreditch and Dalston. 

• Findings suggested that a cumulative impact was experienced across a 
widened boundary of the former Shoreditch Special Policy Area. If minded 
to go to consultation, it would be advised to include a widened area to the 
southwest.  

  
7.4      Members welcomed the report. A discussion proceeded during which the 

following points were raised:  
 

• Research findings did not support any possible further extension beyond 
the identified points in both areas. 

• Ward Members of the Shoreditch area had received a lot of support from 
residents to proceed with consultation. 

• Referring to page 44 of the agenda, it was explained that a decision would 
be required to be taken as to whether a CIA would apply to all or some 
authorisations. 

• Under a CIA there would be a presumption to refuse specified applications, 
unless the applicant could demonstrate how the licensing objectives would 
not be undermined.  

• Members may be minded to decide that a presumption to refuse all 
applications in a particular area was not justified; however some type of 
policy intervention was needed in the way of a Special Consideration Area 
(SCA). 

• It was important to ensure that any consultation was far reaching and those 
who engage are representative of the demographic.  

• Paper copies of the consultation would be available to anyone on request 
and responses would be monitored to ensure that responders do not 
respond more than once. The consultation would be led by the Council’s 
Consultation Team who would target various groups and local bodies and 
spaces. There was a requirement to complete an equality impact 
assessment as part of the process. Additionally, the Licensing Team would 
use means to capture those already engaged in licensing processes.  

• If Members were minded to agree to consult, it would be undertaken 
imminently however it was to be noted that the Council would be entering a 
pre-election period ahead of the London Mayoral and London Assembly 
elections in May. Therefore, a decision on when to proceed would be taken 
in consultation with the Council’s Monitoring Officer. Consultation would be 
open for eight weeks.  

Page 14

https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g5835/Printed%20minutes%20Tuesday%2014-Nov-2023%2019.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g5835/Printed%20minutes%20Tuesday%2014-Nov-2023%2019.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g5835/Printed%20minutes%20Tuesday%2014-Nov-2023%2019.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g5835/Printed%20minutes%20Tuesday%2014-Nov-2023%2019.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g5835/Printed%20minutes%20Tuesday%2014-Nov-2023%2019.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=1


Wednesday 10 January 2024  
• It was noted that the consultation needed to have clear, concise, easy to 

understand language, setting out the different options available.  
• A possible inclusion in the consultation could be the identification of the 

types of businesses which could be included or exempted.  
• Research findings suggested that Dalston had half or less incident counts 

than Shoreditch which was concentrated in the central parts of former 
Dalston SPA.  

• The Committee expressed that should they be minded to go out to 
consultation, that the original area of the former Dalston SPA be included 
as this could not be extended but could be reduced following the results of 
the consultation.   

• It was noted that the number of licenced premises and traffic flow for 
Dalston could not be compared to Shoreditch, therefore crime levels were 
not comparable. However, the level of crime in the former policy area 
Dalston in the day and night time were of a similar nature.  

• There was evidence to suggest a possible downgrade in Dalston to a 
Special Consideration Area. 

• It was requested that any consultation include a map of the relevant areas 
highlighting whether the area was in line with the evidence presented at the 
previous meeting.  

• It was noted that whilst the research provided lots of information, there was 
vital information missing from the findings due to a lack of widespread 
consultation with key stakeholders including a representation of residents 
living in the areas and Councillors. 

  
RESOLVED: That having regard for the options (as set out in Appendix 1) for each of 
the five areas that were assessed as part of the Cumulative Impact research, it was 
agreed:  
  

1.   That the area described as within the boundary formerly identified as the 
Shoreditch Special Policy Area and the area to the southwest as highlighted in 
the research, be considered for inclusion if a Cumulative Impact Assessment 
(CIA) be published: 

a)        Applying to all relevant authorisations within the defined geographical 
area or; 

b)        Applying only to relevant authorisations of a particular kind within the 
defined geographical area. 

  
Additionally, it was agreed that officers would consider the most effective way 
to consult all stakeholders and relevant persons. 

  
2.   That the area described as within the boundary formerly identified as the 

Dalston Special Policy Area be considered for inclusion if a CIA is published: 
a)        Applying to all relevant authorisations within the defined geographical 

area or; 
b)        Applying to only relevant authorisations of a particular kind within the 

defined geographical area. 
  

Additionally, it was agreed that officers would consider the most effective way 
to consult all stakeholders and relevant persons. 

  
3.    That there was insufficient evidence in relation to the areas of interest Therefore 

it was agreed not to describe these areas in the consultation: 
Page 15



Wednesday 10 January 2024  
  

•         Broadway Market and London Fields area of interest.  
•         Hackney Central area of interest.  
•         Hackney Wick area of interest 

  
  
 
8 Any Other Business  
 
8.1 It was noted that the dates for Licensing Sub-Committees for the remainder of 

the Municipal Year had been circulated and there were a number of Councillors 
who were yet to confirm their availability. Members were encouraged to contact 
the Governance Officer to advise of which hearings they were available to sit.  

  
. 
  
End of meeting.  
 

 
Duration of the meeting: 7:05-8.41pm 
 
 
 
 
Cllr Gilbert Smyth  
Chair of the Licensing Committee 2023/24 
 
 
Contact for Information:  
Natalie Williams  
Senior Governance Officer  
governance@gackney.gov.uk 
 

Page 16

mailto:governance@gackney.gov.uk


Title of Report Late Night Levy - Year 7, Quarter 1

For Consideration By Licensing Committee

Meeting Date 25 March 2024

Classification Open

Ward(s) Affected All wards

Group Director Rickardo Hyatt, Group Director Climate Homes and
Economy

1. Summary

1.1 This report has been prepared to provide the Licensing Committee with an
update on the Late Night Levy (“the Levy”) activities during the first quarter of
Year 7, namely the period from 1st December 2023 to 31st January 2024.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Licensing Committee notes the report and the appendices.

3. Comments of the Interim Director of Finance

3.1 This report has been prepared to provide the Licensing Committee with an
update on the Levy and the most recent board meetings (where available).
There are no financial considerations at this time.

4. Comments of the Acting Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral
Services

4.1 The Late Night Levy Board (“the Board”) has been established to advise and
oversee how the levy monies are to be spent. This report has been prepared
to provide the Licensing Committee with an update of activities pertaining to
the Late Night Levy.

4.2 This report is for informative purposes, as such, there are no legal
implications arising from the report that require comments at this stage.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Late Night Levy - Year 7, Q1 Update

Exempt

Not applicable.

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



Background Papers

None.

Report Author Samantha Mathys
Late Night Levy Manager
samantha.mathys@hackney.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8356 8974

Comments for the Director
of Finance prepared by

Avril Smith
Service Accountant
avril.smith@hackney.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8356 3947

Comments for the Acting
Director of Legal,
Democratic and Electoral
Services prepared by

Amanda Nauth
Licensing and Corporate Lawyer
amanda.nauth@hackney.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8356 6345

Page 18

mailto:samantha.mathys@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:avril.smith@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:amanda.nauth@hackney.gov.uk


Late Night Levy - Year 7 Q1 Update (November 2023 to January 2024)

1. Year 7 Year To Date Income

1.1 Total receipts in Year 7 Q1 amounted to £177,956.

2. Hackney Nights Statistics

2.1 A total of 178 nightlife and security staff were trained this quarter, compared to 210
last quarter.

2.2 A total of 187 engagement visits were conducted across the borough.

2.3 We have 8 additional venues who have become accredited, for a total of 33.

2.4 We have 9 additional Hackney Nights portal sign ups.

2.5 We have had 29 advice sessions as part of the advice service, see point 4.

3. Borough-wide pubwatch 2024

3.1 Photos

3.2 Operators across the borough attended the Hackney Nights boroughwide pubwatch
on Wednesday the 31st January to discuss Night Time Economy and to mark the

Page 19



launch of the new GLA funded business-friendly regulation project as well as the
upcoming Night Time Strategy.

3.3 Speakers Sam Mathys, Music Venue Trust, Cllr-Fajana-Thomas, Det Supt Brittany
Clarke, Maurice Mason and London's night czar, Amy Lame discussed issues
affecting the night time economy. The panel also took questions from the audience.

3.4 This annual event was our biggest yet with 120+ in attendance from local businesses.
All the feedback received from businesses will feed the ongoing work in this area.

4. Pre-application Licensing Advice Service

4.1 We have launched our GLA funded Licensing advice service in January 2024.

4.2 The service is for those considering applying for a licence or varying an existing
licence. It helps them:

● familiarise them with our Licensing Policy and the standard set by the
Hackney Nights accreditation scheme

● choose the right type of licence and / or application
● fully complete the application correctly and signposting to relevant sources of

information for drawing the plans (where relevant), site and newspaper
notices

● understand the reasons for applying certain policies to an application
● give specialised advice around safety and policies to reduce nuisance

3.3 The current economic reality for businesses means they may need to adapt their
business models and operations and this service intends to make it easier for
businesses to do that while operating in a way that does not add to the cumulative
impact of their respective areas.

3.4 We also co-delivered a workshop with Music Venue Trust to all grassroots music
venues on the present day challenges. The workshop covered the new noise and
planning checker, agent of change and funding.

3.5 In the first month alone we have delivered 29 advice sessions in regards to Licensing
and Noise, 5 of these major site visits.

4. #DontCrosstheLIne

4.1 As part of the 16 Days campaign, we launched #DontCrosstheLine across the
borough, which aimed to tackle harassment and misogyny in the night time economy.

4.2 Stencilling

We teamed up with Young Hackney to identify areas across the borough where
young women have experienced harassment.

Page 20



Undertook 3 days of temporary pavement stencilling with young people to target
those areas, which lasted the duration of the 16 days campaign.

Feature on @cheerupluv Instagram account

4.3 We held two pop ups in the night time economy on the first weekend in December, to
mark the start of the festive period.

● A total of 840 Water bottles were handed out.
● A total of 720 QR codes were handed out.
● A total of 20 Flip Flops were handed out.
● A total of 50 T Shirts were handed out to members of the public
● 500+ condoms handed out.
● Mobile Messaging Vehicle was out distributing crucial VAWG messaging.
● Police Vigilant unit focusing on predatory behaviour.
● 775 Total Engagements with the public

Page 21



4.4 Social Media

We had quite a lot of organic social media reach through members of the public but
also our venues shared on their platforms as well. We made a version of the
campaign poster where venues could put their own name in and personalise the
message.

4.5 Campaign Evaluation

Quantitative metrics:
● 200k social media impressions since September
● Triborough launch announcement 5.3K views
● Hackney Nights reel 5.7K views

Page 22



Other measures:
● Qualitative feedback
● Campaign coverage and visibility
● Public awareness
● Fall in sexual offences
● Feelings of safety

5. Policing, Enforcement and Welfare

5.1 We had extra Police and Enforcement resources for the festive period as well as the
mobile messaging vehicle out with special festive messaging.

5.2 We are now sending out a weekly safety briefing to all bars, pubs and clubs ahead of
every weekend with tips and tricks or things to look out for as well as the creation of a
new inbox for intelligence and information sharing - night-intel@hackney.gov.uk which
is managed by our Community Safety data specialists.

5.3 We saw a drop in sexual offences the entire festive period when compared to last
year, with no night time economy linked sexual assaults, following the
#DontCrosstheLine campaign launch.

7. Conclusion

7.1 The new Levy year has started on the strongest terms, engagement with licensed
premises has never been higher and this partnership is essential on the delivery of
numerous other projects as we saw with the #DontCrosstheLine campaign, where
sharing and support from operators was the highest it has ever been. Local voices
are essential to the success of Hackney Nights and the safety of our night time
spaces.

7.2 The Licensing Advice service has been the most valued addition to the Hackney
Nights arsenal of deliverables, with our team providing much needed guidance but
also reassurance that the council is there to support them and want them to succeed.

7.3 The Licensing Service will continue to prepare and present quarterly updates to the
Licensing Committee which, as well as the Late Night Levy Board, will maintain
oversight of the Levy moving forward.

Page 23

mailto:night-intel@hackney.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Title of Report Draft Statement of Principles for Gambling

For Consideration By Licensing Committee

Meeting Date 25 March 2024

Classification Open

Ward(s) Affected All wards

Group Director Rickardo Hyatt, Group Director Climate Homes and
Economy

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the Licensing Committee with relevant information on the
Gambling Act 2005 (“the Act”) and the proposed review of the Gambling
Statement of Principles (“Statement”).

2. Recommendation(s)

2.1 Note the proposed approach to the review of the Statement.

2.2 Provide an opinion on whether to recommend to Council that the ‘no casino’
resolution remain for a further three years given the characteristics of the
borough.

3. Background

3.1 Section 349 of the Act states that each Licensing Authority must prepare and
publish a statement of principles that it proposes to apply in exercising its
functions under the Act during the three year period to which the statement
applies. The statement must be kept under review during the period and be
republished where it is revised. The statement must be in place before the
authority can determine any application.

3.2 The statement sets out the basis of decisions made by the authority regarding
gambling premises and in issuing a range of permits to authorise other
gambling facilities in the area. For example:

● Adult gaming centre premises licences
● Betting premises licences
● Bingo premises licences
● Family entertainment centre premises licences
● Gaming Machine Permits
● Temporary Use Notices

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



3.3 The review of the statement must take account of the Gambling Commission
Guidance and be subject to statutory consultation with prescribed
stakeholders including the holders of licences and the Police, as well as other
stakeholders including representatives of gambling businesses, local
residents, social services and child protection.

3.4 Under section 166(1) of the Act, a Licensing Authority can make a resolution
not to issue casino licences for a period up to 3 years. This Council has
previously made such a resolution which was subsequently reaffirmed since
the Act commenced in 2007. Therefore, a decision on whether or not to
reaffirm this resolution will be required.

4. Proposed Timetable

5.1 Should the Licensing Committee determine that further works is warranted,
the following timetable is proposed:

● April - June 2024 - Public consultation
● July 2024 - Licensing Committee consider consultation report and

make recommendations to Cabinet and Full Council
● September 2024 - Cabinet considers consultation feedback and makes

a recommendation to Full Council
● November 2024 - Full Council consider consultation feedback and

approve Statement for publication
● December 2024 - Statutory notice of intent to publish the Statement

appears in local press
● December/January 2025 - Statement is published
● 31 January 2025 - Statement effective

5. Comments of the Interim Group Director Finance

5.1 This report requests that the Licensing Committee note the proposed
approach to the review of the Gambling Statement of Principles. It also seeks
the Committee’s view on whether to recommend to Council that the ‘no
casino’ resolution remain for a further three years given the characteristics of
the borough.

5.2 Costs will be incurred in reviewing the Statement including consultation costs
relating to printing, publishing and placing notifications in the press. These
costs will be met from within existing service budgets.

6. Comments of the Acting Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral
Services

6.1 The requirement to have a Gambling Statement of Principles is set out in
Section 349(1) of the Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act’) and lasts for a three year
period. The first Statement was approved at Full Council on 29 November

Page 26



2006. The Licensing Authority is required by the Act to publish a revised
Statement at least four weeks before it takes effect.

6.2 The Licensing Authority has a duty to consult on the statement with its
statutory consultees under section 349(3) of the Act.

6.3 Approving the statement is a shared function and as such cannot be the sole
responsibility of the Executive. Therefore, both the Executive and Council
must decide whether to adopt the proposed statement as set out in The Local
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment (England)
Regulations 2006.

6.4 After adopting the revised statement the Council will still need to publish a
statutory notice of intent in the local press at least four weeks before the
statement takes effect.

6.5 Section 166 of the Act requires the Council to include in its statement any
resolution passed not to issue a casino premises licence. In passing such a
resolution the authority may take into account any principle or matter, not just
the gambling licensing objectives.

6.6 Section 153 of the Act states that any ‘no casino’ resolution must be approved
by Council.

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Draft Statement of Principles for Gambling

Exempt

Not applicable.

Background Papers

None

Report Author David Tuitt
Business Regulation Team Leader - Licensing
& Technical Support
david.tuitt@hackney.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8356 8974

Comments for the Interim
Group Director of Finance
prepared by

Avril Smith
Service Accountant
avril.smith@hackney.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8356 3947

Page 27

mailto:david.tuitt@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:avril.smith@hackney.gov.uk


Comments for the Acting
Director of Legal,
Democratic and Electoral
Services prepared by

Amanda Nauth
Licensing and Corporate Lawyer
amanda.nauth@hackney.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8356 6345

Page 28

mailto:amanda.nauth@hackney.gov.uk


DR
AF
T

Draft Gambling Statement of
Principles
2022 – 2025

1
Page 29



DR
AF
T

2
Page 30



DR
AF
T

London Borough of Hackney’s Statement of
Gambling Principles

Para No. Page

How to use this Statement 7
1 Statement of gambling principles 7
1.1 Background and introduction 7
1.2 The licensing objectives 8
1.3 Scope of the Statement 8
1.4 Matters outside the scope of the Statement 10
1.5 Geographical area covered 10
1.6 Integrating strategies 10
1.7 Consultation 13
1.8 Declaration 14
1.9 Casinos 14
1.10 Responsible authorities 14
1.11 Interested parties 15
1.12 Relevant representations 16
2 Delegation and decision making 17
2.1 Delegation of decision making responsibilities 17
2.2 Reports to licensing committee 17
2.3 Decision making 17
2.4 Information exchange 18
3 Risk assessment by operators 19
4 The licensing objectives 19
4.2 Prevention of crime and disorder 19
4.3 Door supervisors 21
4.4 Ensuring that gambling is carried out in a fair and open way 22
4.5 Protection of children and other vulnerable persons 24
4.6 Access to licensed premises 26
5 Location of gambling premises and gaming machines 28
6 Hours of operation 29

3
Page 31



DR
AF
T

Para No. Page
7 Premises licences 30
7.1 General principles 30
7.2 Definition of “premises” 30
7.3 Premises “ready for gambling” 32
7.4 What we consider 33
7.5 Conditions 33
7.6 Adult gaming centres (AGCs) 36
7.7 Licensed family entertainment centres (FECs) 36
7.8 Bingo premises 37
7.9 Betting premises 37
7.10 Tracks 38
7.11 Travelling fairs 40
8 Provisional statements 41
9 Unlicensed family entertainment centres (unlicensed FECs)

gaming machine permits:
Statement of principles on permits 41

10 Prize gaming permits: Statement of principles 44
11 Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits 45
12 Club gaming and club machine permits 46
13 Temporary use notices (TUNs) 47
14 Occasional use notices 48
15 Small society lotteries 48
16 Enforcement and inspection 50
17 Licensing reviews 52
18 Revocation and cancellation 53
19 Appeals 53
20 Further information 54

Appendix A: Glossary of useful terms
Appendix B: Hackney land use map
Appendix C: List of consultees
Appendix D: Table of delegations of licensing functions
Appendix E: Crime and Disorder Maps
Appendix F: Schools, colleges and nurseries map
Appendix G: Table of exemptions
Appendix H: Hackney map of the locations of betting premises
licences

In drafting this Statement, the Licensing Authority has relied upon the
Act, Regulations, Gambling Commission Guidance and Codes of
Practice.

4
Page 32



DR
AF
T

5
Page 33



DR
AF
T

6
Page 34



DR
AF
T

How to use this Statement
● The gambling licensing policies are shown in text boxes called GLPs

(Gambling Licensing Policies). Each GLP is separately numbered and
titled. These are general policies and their specific application will vary
accordingly

● The additional text where relevant, gives examples, background and
reasons for the policies

● The appendices give additional information referred to within the
Statement

● A glossary of useful terms is set out at Appendix A.

1. Gambling Statement of Principles

1.1 Background and introduction

1.1.1 Hackney Council which is the local authority for the London Borough of
Hackney is a “Licensing Authority” under the Gambling Act 2005 (the
“Act”). The Council’s Licensing Committee is responsible for granting
premises licences in Hackney for:

● adult gaming centres
● betting premises, including tracks
● bingo premises
● casino premises
● family entertainment centres.

1.1.2 The definition of ‘Gambling’ is defined in the Act as either gaming,
betting, or taking part in a lottery:

● gaming means playing a game of chance for a prize
● betting means making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race,

competition, or any other event; the likelihood of anything occurring
or not occurring; or whether anything is true or not

● a lottery is where persons are required to pay in order to take part in
an arrangement, during the course of which one or more prizes are
allocated by a process which relies wholly on chance.

1.1.3 Under the Act, Hackney, like all licensing authorities, must publish a
statement of principles (“the Statement”) which they propose to apply
when carrying out their licensing functions. This statement must be
published at least once every three years. The statement must also be
reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts re-consulted
upon. The statement must then be re-published.

1.1.4 This Statement has been revised and is based on Gambling
Commission Guidance (the “Guidance”) and the licensing objectives
under the Act. The Statement sets out how the Licensing Authority will
build on the licensing objectives to reflect local circumstances.

7
Page 35



DR
AF
T

1.2 The licensing objectives

1.2.1 In exercising most of its functions under the Act, the Licensing
Authority must have regard to the licensing objectives. The licensing
objectives are:

● preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime

● ensuring that gambling is carried out in a fair and open way and
● protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed

or exploited by gambling.

1.2.2 This Licensing Authority is aware that, when exercising its functions in
relation to premises licensing, it should aim to permit the use of the
premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is:

● in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the
Gambling Commission (the “Codes of Practice”)

● in accordance with any relevant Guidance
● reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives (subject to the

above) and
● in accordance with this Statement (subject to the above).

1.2.3 Applicants are encouraged to demonstrate how they will promote the
licensing objectives.

1.3 Scope of the Statement

1.3.1 The Statement considers the needs of the Borough and is concerned
with upholding the licensing objectives set out in paragraph 1.2.1
above. It will guide the Licensing Authority in carrying out its various
regulatory functions under the Act. These main functions are to:

● be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling
activities are to take place by issuing premises licences

● issue provisional statements
● regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to

undertake certain gaming activities via issuing club gaming permits
and/or club machine permits

● issue club machine permits to commercial clubs
● grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at

unlicensed family entertainment centres
● receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the

Licensing Act 2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines
● issue licensed premises gaming machine permits for premises

licensed to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where more than two
machines are required

● register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds

8
Page 36



DR
AF
T

● issue prize gaming permits
● receive and endorse temporary use notices
● receive occasional use notices
● provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details

of licences issued (see section below on “information exchange”)
● maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under

these functions
● enforce legislation in relation to premises.

1.3.2 This document sets out the policies that the Licensing Authority will
apply when determining applications for:

● premises licences
● use notices
● permits as required under the Act
● registrations as required under the Act.

1.3.3 This Statement relates to all authorisations identified as falling within
the provisions of the Act, namely:

● bingo premises
● betting premises
● tracks
● adult gaming centres (AGCs)
● family entertainment centres (FECs)
● club gaming permits
● prize gaming and prize gaming permits
● temporary and occasional use notices
● registration of small society lotteries.

1.3.4 This list does not include casinos. Hackney has previously resolved not
to allow casinos in the Borough and will seek a further resolution.
Please also refer to paragraph 1.9 on casinos.

1.3.5 For a list of gambling facilities that are exempt from requiring certain
licences, please see Appendix G.

9
Page 37



DR
AF
T

1.4 Matters outside the scope of the Statement

1.4.1 The Licensing Authority will not be involved in licensing remote
gambling. This will fall to the Gambling Commission via operating
licences. Spread betting is regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority. The National Lottery is also regulated by the Gambling
Commission.

1.4.2 When determining an application, the Licensing Authority will not take
into account the following:

● the likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission or
building regulations approval

● the expected demand for the facilities which are being proposed
● “irrelevant” matters such as those not related to gambling or the

licensing objectives
● moral objections.

1.4.3 The Licensing Authority will avoid duplication with other local
government functions when considering some authorisations. However,
applicants are expected to comply with all other legislation and
regulatory regimes relevant to the operation of their business. The
Licensing Authority will as a matter of routine share information with
other responsible authorities and the Gambling Commission
particularly where there is evidence of non– compliance. Please also
note paragraph 2.4 of the Policy which deals with the exchange of
information.

1.5 Geographical area covered

1.5.1 According to the Office of National Statistics 2016 mid-year estimates,
Hackney’s population stood at 273,526. This, as well as Hackney’s
relatively small geographical area, makes it one of the most densely
populated boroughs in London, Its size ranks 29th in comparison to
the other boroughs; only Hammersmith & Fulham, Islington,
Kensington & Chelsea and City of London have smaller areas.
Hackney is primarily urban (residential, retail, offices, industrial etc.);
this accounts for 50.3% of its land use; 22.6% of the Borough is made
up of parks, open spaces and waterways with 27.1% being roads and
thoroughfares. The Borough’s land use is shown in the map at
Appendix B.

1.6 Integrating strategies

1.6.1 Regard should be given to the available data, findings, shared vision
and plans informing Hackney’s Sustainable Community Strategy (the
“Strategy”).

1.6.2 The Strategy sets out the Council’s overarching vision for Hackney as it
grows and changes over the next decade. It will provide a backdrop for

10
Page 38



DR
AF
T

all decision making throughout this period and a focus for working in
partnership with residents, businesses, the voluntary and community
sector and statutory agencies. The Strategy builds on what residents
have told the Council about the challenges and opportunities presented
to those who live and work in the borough.

1.6.3 The Strategy will help the Council respond to residents’ experience of
living in the borough, thinking about how the Council will co-ordinate
activity and collaborate with partners to think about the whole place,
rather than just running individual services. This will help put the needs,
perspectives and feelings of the whole community at the heart of what
the Council does through a time of continued change and uncertainty.

1.6.4 The Strategy will set out the overall aspirations for Hackney in 2028
and then breaks this down into five key, crosscutting themes. Under
each of the themes is a set of commitments the Council is making to
move toward Hackney in 2028. The 5 crosscutting themes are:
1. A borough where there is a good quality of life and the whole

community can benefit from growth
2. A borough with residents who are ambitious, engaging and want

to contribute to community life
3. A green and environmentally sustainable borough
4. An open, cohesive and supportive community
5. A borough with healthy, active and independent residents

1.6.5 Regard has also been given to the responsibility under the Council’s
planning regime and in particular the new borough-wide local plan,
known as LP33. This will be the key strategic planning document which
will establish a vision and planning policies to direct and guide
development in Hackney up to 2033. The plan is critical in ensuring
that the right amount of development is built in the right place at the
right time so that the future needs of the borough are met.

1.6.7 In order to deliver continued growth and regeneration in the Borough,
the Council must ensure a robust planning framework is in place. At the
moment we have three key documents (core strategy, development
management and site allocations local plans). LP33 will combine and
update these documents into a single clear document, helping to
support growth and regeneration and provide clarity to our residents.

1.6.9 Responsible authorities will have a vital role to play in scrutinising
licensing applications to prevent gambling from being a source of, or
associated with or used to support crime, and to protect children and
other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling.
This role will be further enhanced by the enforcement activities of the
Police and the Council’s Licensing Service.

11
Page 39



DR
AF
T

1.7 Consultation

1.7.1 The Licensing Authority recognises the important role that responsible
authorities, the gambling trade and other stakeholders have to play in
influencing this Statement. It will therefore take a wide range of views
as part of the consultation before finalising and publishing its
Statement.

1.7.2 Under the Act, consultation will take place with:

● the Chief Officer of Police for the London Borough of Hackney
● one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the

interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the
authority’s area and

● one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by or otherwise
have an interest in the Statement. This includes but is not limited to:

o responsible authorities such as the fire authority, child
protection, Gambling Commission

o interested parties such as resident associations and trade
associations.

1.7.3 A summary list of persons and groups this Licensing Authority consults
with is set out in Appendix C.

1.7.4 The Licensing Authority will give due weight to the views of those
consulted and may amend the Statement accordingly following
responses received. In determining what weight to give particular
representations, the factors taken into account will include:

● who is making the representation (what is their expertise or interest)
● what their motivation may be for their views
● how many other people have expressed the same or similar views
● how far representations relate to matters the Licensing Authority

should include in its Statement
● reasoned cases.

1.7.5 The results of the consultation are available via the Council’s website.

1.7.6 Nothing in this Statement will:

● undermine the rights of any person to apply under the Act for a
variety of permissions and have the application considered on its
individual merits; or

● override the right of any person to make representations on any
application or seek a review of a licence or permit where they are
permitted to do so under the Act as each will be considered on its
own merits and according to the statutory requirements of the Act.

12
Page 40



DR
AF
T

1.8 Declaration

1.8.1 In producing the Statement, this Licensing Authority declares that it has
had regard to the licensing objectives of the Act, the Guidance, and
any responses it has from those consulted.

1.9 Casinos

1.9.1 There are currently no casinos operating within the borough.

1.9.2 On 26 January 2022, the Council made a resolution not to issue casino
licences for a further three years given the characteristics of the
Borough.

1.9.3 Where a resolution is in place, any casino application received will be
returned with a notification that a 'no-casino' resolution is in place.

1.9.4 There is no right of appeal against this resolution.

1.10 Responsible authorities

1.10.1 This Licensing Authority designates the City and Hackney
Safeguarding Children's Board as the body competent to advise the
Authority about the protection of children from harm. The principles the
Licensing Authority has applied in designating this Board are as
follows:

● the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the
whole of the Licensing Authority’s area

● the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group.

1.10.2 For a list of responsible authorities, please refer to the glossary of
useful terms at Appendix A.

1.10.3 The contact details for all responsible authorities under the Act are
available from the Licensing Service.

1.11 Interested parties

1.11.1 A person is an interested party in relation to an application for or in
respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the Licensing
Authority, the person:

● lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by
the authorised activities

● has business interests that might be affected by the authorised
activities

● represents persons who satisfy a) or b) above.

13
Page 41



DR
AF
T

1.11.2 In determining whether a person or business is an interested party, the
Licensing Authority will look at each case and decide it upon its merits.
It may take into account the size of the premises and nature of
activities taking place. This Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its
decision making and will consider the Guidance on this.

1.11.3 When determining what “sufficiently close to the premises” means, the
Licensing Authority may take into account:

● the size of the premises
● the nature of the premises
● the distance of the premises from the location of the person making

the representation
● the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes

likely to be taken by those visiting the establishment) and
● the circumstances of the complainant. For example, it could be

reasonable for the Authority to conclude that “sufficiently close to be
likely to be affected” could have a different meaning for (a) a private
resident (b) a residential school for children with truanting problems
and (c) a residential hostel for vulnerable adults.

1.11.4 Interested parties will include trade associations, trade unions, and
residents’ and tenants’ associations. The Licensing Authority may also
request a membership list which will indicate the extent of the
membership of that association to allow due weight to be given as
appropriate.

1.11.5 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such
as Ward Councillors and MPs. Other than these persons, this Authority
will generally require written evidence that a person or body (such as
an advocate or relative) ‘represents’ someone who either lives
sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the
authorised activities and/or has business interests that might be
affected by the authorised activities. A letter from one of these persons
requesting the representation is sufficient.

1.11.6 The Licensing Authority would usually expect Councillors and MPs to
make representations only when requested to by ward constituents
and/or residents from the area to which the application relates. If
individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their
views then care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the
Licensing Committee dealing with the licence application.

1.11.7 In determining whether a person has a business interest which could
be affected, the Licensing Authority will consider among other things:

● the size of the premises
● the catchment area of the premises, and

14
Page 42



DR
AF
T

● whether the person making the representation has business
interests in the catchment area that might be affected.

1.11.8 “Business interests” will be given the widest possible interpretation and
include partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices.

1.12 Relevant representations

1.12.1 Representations relating to an application will be considered as
admissible where they are made by an interested party or responsible
authority. The Licensing Authority will then normally only consider that
representations are relevant where they relate to the licensing
objectives, the Guidance, the Codes of Practice or the Statement.

1.12.2 The Licensing Authority may determine an application without a
hearing despite having received representations from interested parties
or responsible authorities where it thinks the representations are
vexatious, frivolous or will certainly not influence the authority’s
determination of the application.

1.12.3 Anyone making representations on an application should note that their
details will be made available to the applicant in the interest of fairness
and to allow for negotiation. In the event of a hearing being held,
representations will form part of a public document.

15
Page 43



DR
AF
T

2. Delegation and Decision Making

2.1 Delegation of decision making responsibilities

2.1.1 This Licensing Authority will ensure that the licensing functions
contained within the Act are delegated to an appropriate level so as to
ensure speedy, efficient and cost effective determination of licensing
applications. Its licensing functions will be discharged as detailed in
Appendix D.

2.1.2 Those decisions which are not delegated will be determined by the
Licensing Committee which has been established by the Licensing
Authority to administer a range of licensing functions.

2.2 Reports to licensing committee

2.2.1 There are a number of wider issues which the Licensing Committee
need to be aware of in order that this and other policies within their
remit can be reviewed as and when necessary. The Licensing
Committee may receive reports for information such as the following, to
ensure the up-to-date position is known:

● employment situation in the area and the need for new investment
and employment where appropriate

● cultural strategy
● local visitor economy
● local crime and disorder figures.

2.3 Decision making

2.3.1 A Licensing Sub-Committee, drawn from members of the Licensing
Committee, will normally sit in public to hear applications where
representations have been received from interested parties and
responsible authorities.

2.3.2 A Ward Councillor will not sit on a Sub-Committee involving an
application within their own Ward.

2.3.3 Where a Councillor who is a member of the Licensing Committee is
making or has made representations regarding a licence on behalf of
an interested party, in the interests of good governance they will
disqualify themselves from any involvement in the decision making
process affecting the licence or application in question.

2.3.4 Every decision of the Licensing Committee or Licensing
Sub-Committee shall be accompanied by clear reasons. The decision
will be sent to the applicant and those who have made representations
as soon as is practicable.

2.3.5 The Licensing Service will deal with licensing applications where no
relevant representations have been received or where representations

16
Page 44



DR
AF
T

have been withdrawn. Even where there are no relevant
representations, a hearing must occur where certain conditions to the
licence are to be attached or excluded unless the applicant waives their
right to a hearing.

2.3.6 Decisions as to whether representations are inadmissible, irrelevant,
frivolous or vexatious will be made by licensing officers. Where
representations are rejected, the person making that representation will
be given written reasons for this. There is no right of appeal against a
determination that representations are not admissible.

2.3.7 The Licensing Sub-Committee will determine each case before it on its
individual merits whilst taking into consideration the Codes of Practice,
the Guidance, the licensing objectives and the terms of this Policy and
may add conditions (Please see paragraph 6.5 on Conditions).

2.3.8 In undertaking its licensing functions under the Act, the Licensing
Authority is bound by other legislation, for example the Human Rights
Act (1998).

2.4 Information exchange

2.4.1 The Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the
Act in its exchange of information which includes the provision that the
Data Protection Act (2018) and the General Data Protection Regulation
(GDPR) will not be contravened. The Licensing Authority will also have
regard to any relevant Guidance and regulations under the Act.

2.4.2 Should any protocols be established regarding information exchange
with other bodies then they will be made available upon request.

2.4.3 In fulfilling its functions and obligations under the Act, the Licensing
Authority will exchange relevant information with other regulatory
bodies and will establish protocols in this respect. In exchanging such
information, the Licensing Authority will conform to the requirements of
data protection and freedom of information legislation in accordance
with the Council’s existing policies.

2.4.4 Any matters of non-compliance with the Act will, where appropriate, be
reported to the Gambling Commission.

2.4.5 The Licensing Authority will share information with other responsible
authorities and the Gambling Commission where there is evidence of
non-compliance with other legislation and regulatory regimes relevant
to the operation of the applicant’s business.

3 Risk assessment by operators

3.1 Licensees must assess the local risk to the licensing objectives posed
by the provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises.

17
Page 45



DR
AF
T

Operators will be expected to have policies, procedures and control
measures in place to mitigate those risks

3.2 The licensees must undertake a risk assessment when applying for a
new premises licence as well as when varying an existing premises
licence. The risk assessment should take into account the local
circumstances, including those identified in this Statement and must be
shared with the Licensing Authority when making an application, or
otherwise on request.

GLP1

Assessing local risk
Licensees are encouraged to have regard to GLP1 - GLP7, the Council’s
Sustainable Community Strategy referred to in Paragraph 1.6 and Appendices B,
E and G when assessing the local risks posed to the licensing objectives.

Applicants should where appropriate offer their own measures to mitigate those
risks.

4 The licensing objectives

4.1 Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the
licensing objectives. With regard to these objectives, this Licensing
Authority has considered the Guidance and some comments are made
below.

4.2 Prevention of crime and disorder

4.2.1 The Gambling Commission plays a lead role in preventing gambling
from being a source of crime or disorder.

4.2.2 The Licensing Authority places importance on the prevention of crime
and disorder, and will fulfil its duty under section 17 of the Crime and
Disorder Act (1998). This binds the Licensing Authority to exercise its
licensing powers with due regard to the need to do all that it reasonably
can to prevent crime and disorder in its area. A high standard of control
is therefore expected to be exercised over licensed premises.

4.2.3 The Licensing Authority will pay attention to the proposed location of
gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective and possible
conditions. For example, where an area has known high levels of crime
and disorder, this authority will consider carefully whether the licensing
objectives would be undermined if gambling premises were to be
located there. For a map of the crime hotspots in Hackney, please refer
to Appendix E (Crime Hotspots Map). This map is subject to change
with the use of updated information.

18
Page 46



DR
AF
T

4.2.4 The Licensing Authority will, when determining applications, consider
whether the grant of a premises licence is likely to result in an increase
in crime and disorder. This Licensing Authority is aware of the
distinction between disorder and nuisance and will consider factors
such as whether police assistance was required and how threatening
the behaviour was to those who could see or hear it, so as to make that
distinction. Issues of nuisance cannot be addressed via the provisions
of the Act.

4.2.5 Where the premises has been associated with drug dealing, or the
possession of weapons on the premises, this may give rise to particular
concerns as to whether it will be appropriate to allow the admission of
children to the premises during some or all of its hours of operation. In
such circumstances applicants may be required to demonstrate that
these matters have been addressed.

4.2.6 Applicants are therefore encouraged to demonstrate to the satisfaction
of the Licensing Authority, in consultation with the police, how they
intend to satisfy this licensing objective. Applicants are encouraged to
discuss their crime prevention procedures with licensing officers and
the police before making a formal application, addressing how at an
operational and local level they will implement their measures to
prevent crime and disorder on the premises.

4.2.7 Examples of the matters that are likely to be considered by the
Licensing Authority when determining an application include, where
appropriate:

● the design and layout of the premises
● physical security features installed in the premises; this may include

matters such as the position of cash registers or the standard of
CCTV that is installed

● training given to staff in crime prevention measures appropriate to
the premises

● where premises are subject to age restrictions, the procedures in
place to conduct age verification checks

● the likelihood of any violence, public disorder or policing problem if
the licence is granted.

19
Page 47



DR
AF
T

4.3 Door supervisors

4.3.1 The Licensing Authority may consider whether there is a need for door
supervisors and whether these should be Security Industry Authority
(SIA) registered having regard to the licensing objectives.

4.3.2 Door supervisors at casino and bingo halls are exempt from being
licensed by the SIA. The Licensing Authority may make specific
requirements for door supervisors working at casinos or bingo
premises to search individuals and deal with potentially aggressive
persons to ensure that this licensing objective is met to the satisfaction
of the authority.

4.3.3 For premises other than casinos and bingo halls, operators and the
Licensing Authority may decide that supervision of entrances and/or
machines is appropriate in particular cases.

GLP2
Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime.

1. Applicants are encouraged to demonstrate within their application, where it is
considered necessary and appropriate, measures to prevent crime and
disorder on the premises by providing information on:

(a) use of door staff, details of SIA door supervisors and other appropriately
trained staff including relevant qualifications or registrations, the number
of staff, their location whilst working at the premises, and the times they
will be on duty

(b) details of the training given to staff in crime prevention measures
appropriate to those premises

(c) notices to be prominently displayed on the premises and visible to
members of the public stating:

(i) CCTV is recording on the premises (where required by legislation)
(ii) drugs will not be tolerated and persons found possessing/dealing

will be excluded from the premises
(iii
)

drunkenness and those under the influence of drugs will not be
tolerated on the premises

(d) an accurate plan of the premises confirming the design and layout of
the premises, with particular attention to the ability of staff to survey
entrances, exits and any dark or hidden areas. Plans should include:

(i) the location of lighting inside and outside the premises
(ii) the location of any physical security features for example CCTV

equipment, its coverage of the interior and exterior of the premises
(iii
)

CCTV, which is to be recordable, kept for a minimum of 31 days
and made available to the police and Licensing Authority on
request.

20
Page 48



DR
AF
T

(iv) When details of security measures are provided, they will be kept
out of the public domain.

(e) provision of adequate search facilities where applicable to the use of
the premises

(f) measures to be taken to prevent the consumption of alcohol on the
premises other than where it is legal and to ensure those under the
influence of alcohol are not permitted to gamble

(g) measures to be taken to prevent the possession, supply or consumption
of illegal drugs on the premises and to ensure that those under the
influence of drugs are not permitted to gamble. Any drugs policy should
cover the requirement to notify the Police

(h) measures to be taken to prevent the possession of offensive weapons
on the premises

(i) details of any proof of age scheme
(j) details of the process to ensure that children do not have access to

adult only gaming facilities
(k) measures aimed at discouraging anti-social behaviour
(l) measures aimed at preventing children and other vulnerable persons

from being exposed to incidents of violence or disorder
(m
)

measures to address circumstances where there have been known
instances of:

(i) harbouring drug dealing, or there is a known association with drug
dealers

(ii) the possession of weapons on the premises, or where there is a
known association with such activity

(iii
)

offences against children or involving children, for example,
allowing under 18s to participate in adult gambling.

(n) adoption of the Metropolitan Police Safebet Alliance Voluntary Code of
Robbery Security Standards for the Bookmaking Industry

4.4 Ensuring that gambling is carried out in a fair and open way

4.4.1 Generally the Gambling Commission would not expect the Licensing
Authority to ensure that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.
This will be a matter for either the management of the gambling
business (and therefore relevant to the operating licence), or will be in
relation to the suitability and actions of an individual (and therefore
relevant to the personal licence). The Gambling Commission will be
responsible for both of these matters and its expectations by way of
measures are set out in its Codes of Practice.

4.4.2 There is more discretion for the Licensing Authority for authorisations
which do not require an operating or personal licence and for tracks
where practices may be added to ensure that the betting environment
is suitable (see paragraph 7.10 on tracks). The Licensing Authority will
expect these applicants to demonstrate how they will meet this
objective.

21
Page 49



DR
AF
T

4.4.3 If during the course of considering an application for a premises
licence, permit or other notice or at any other time, the Licensing
Authority receives information that causes it to question the suitability
of the applicant or licence holder to hold an operating licence, or an
individual to hold a personal licence the Licensing Authority will notify
the Gambling Commission and/or other appropriate authorities without
delay.

4.4.4 The Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions on an application for
a permit. Therefore, it may instead refuse the application where the
above requirements and GLP3 are not met.

GLP3
Ensuring that gambling is carried out in a fair and open way

The Licensing Authority encourages applicants who do not fall within
the jurisdiction of the Gambling Commission (see paragraph 4.4.2) to
conform to the code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission
and by the conditions of their operating licence. Failure to demonstrate
this may result in the application being refused. In particular:

1. For applications which do not require an operating licence or personal
licence, applicants are to demonstrate how information is to be provided
about the rules and terms of gambling so that:

(a) customers can make an informed decision as to whether and how to
participate in gambling

(b) customers know the contractual terms and conditions of gambling
(c) information is displayed in a clear, accessible and intelligible way.

Information should be:

(i) bold, precise and clearly located on or near where the game
or bet is placed (e.g. machines, track etc)

(ii) where the customer base includes people whose first
language is not English, notices should be in other languages
as appropriate

(d) the information displayed on the premises and on promotional
information should include:

(i) rules of the game or bet
(ii) the odds of winning or losing in different scenarios
(iii) changes in the rules which must be bold, precise and

communicated to the customer so they are fully aware of them
(iv) the average return to the player (the payout percentage)
(v) the minimum and maximum stakes
(vi) information about the machine characteristics (for example

compensated/ random)
(vii) how quickly the winnings will be paid out and in what form

22
Page 50



DR
AF
T

(viii
)

the dispute and complaints procedures

(e) in addition:

(i) the operation of the games must be consistent and in line with
the rules of the games

(ii) the layout of the premises must ensure that the games and
bets can be conducted in a fair and open way

(iii) no advertising or other marketing tool inside or outside the
premises or any part of the media which misleads the
customer as to the rules of the game or encourages them not
to read the rules.

4.5 Protection of children and other vulnerable persons

4.5.1 As outlined in the borough profile from paragraph 1.6, Hackney’s
population has a higher than average number of children and
vulnerable persons. It is particularly important that the Policy has
regard to these facts and the aims of our Sustainable Community
Strategy in seeking to address inequality and deprivation.

4.5.2 The Licensing Authority will, when determining applications consider
whether the grant of a premises licence is likely to result in children and
other vulnerable persons being harmed or exploited by gambling.
Applications are encouraged to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the
Licensing Authority, in consultation with the City and Hackney
Safeguarding Children Board, how they intend to implement their
measures at an operational and local level to promote this objective.

4.5.3 In relation to children, it should be noted that the Gambling
Commission has stated that this objective is explicitly to protect them
from being harmed or exploited by gambling. This means preventing
them from taking part in gambling and having restrictions on
advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at or are
particularly attractive to children. The Licensing Authority will therefore
judge the merits of each application before considering whether
specific measures are required such as:

● restrictions on advertising and style of the premises where premises
cater solely or mainly for adults so that gambling products are not
aimed at children or advertised in such a way to make them
particularly attractive to children

● restrictions on layout or on where certain machines may be in
operation.

4.5.4 In addition, the Licensing Authority will seek to ensure the layout of the
premises does not encourage gambling products to be aimed at
children or in such a manner that makes them particularly attractive to
children.

23
Page 51



DR
AF
T

4.5.5 The Licensing Authority will generally expect those who operate or
control gambling licensed premises or gambling events to have regard
to child welfare.

4.5.6 It should be noted that the definition “vulnerable persons” includes but
is not limited to people who gamble more than they want to, people
who gamble beyond their means and people who may not be able to
make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a mental
impairment, alcohol or drugs.

4.5.7 With regard to the protection of vulnerable persons, the Licensing
Authority will consider whether special considerations are required.
These will need to be balanced against the authority’s aim, in the case
of premises licensing, to permit the use of the premises for gambling.

4.5.8 When determining an application to grant or review a premises licence,
regard may be given to the proximity of other establishments catering
to children or vulnerable adults, or to places that are frequented by
unaccompanied children and/or vulnerable adults or where children,
young people or vulnerable persons are likely to congregate. These
may include schools, vulnerable adult centres, addiction centres, day
centres or services used by vulnerable adults or residential areas
where there may be a high concentration of families with children. It
may also include school routes and places that attract unaccompanied
children for recreation and leisure.

4.5.9 The proximity of premises taken into consideration will vary depending
on the size and scope of the gambling premises concerned. Each case
will be decided on its merits and may depend in part on the type of
gambling proposed. Therefore, if an applicant can effectively
demonstrate in its policies how they might overcome licensing objective
concerns, this will be taken into account. For a map of the locations of
schools, colleges and nurseries within Hackney, please refer to
Appendix F.

24
Page 52



DR
AF
T

4.6 Access to licensed premises

4.6.1 With the exception of bingo halls, non-gambling areas of tracks on race
days and licensed family entertainment centres, children will not be
permitted to enter adult only licensed gambling premises.

4.6.2 The Licensing Authority will consult with the City and Hackney
Safeguarding Children Board on any application that indicates there
may be concerns for children or vulnerable persons over access to
gambling.

GLP4
The protection of children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed
or exploited by gambling.

1. Applicants are encouraged to demonstrate within their application where it is
considered necessary and appropriate that:

(a) the design and style of their premises and any external signage,
advertising or promotional material is not aimed or marketed at attracting
children to premises or areas which are reserved for adult gambling

(b) children are not to be exposed to gambling which is legally restricted to
adults

(c) measures have been taken to prevent children from being in close
proximity to types of gambling restricted to adults for example, gaming
machines of class A,B or C

(d) staff have been or will be appropriately trained to understand the
following:

(i) which class of machine is restricted to adults only
(ii) any areas where children and young persons are not to be

permitted.
(iii) child protection requirements
(iv) reporting concerns about the welfare of a child to the Duty and

Assessment Team, the Council
(v) reporting concerns about the welfare of vulnerable persons to

Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults, Adult Services, the Council.

(e) details of helplines and guidance are provided to those who may have
alcohol, drug or gambling problems.

2. The Licensing Authority may consider specific measures to protect under 18s
and vulnerable persons on certain categories of premises. These measures
include:

(a) supervision of entrances
(b) segregation of gambling from areas frequented by children
(c) supervision of gaming machines in adult only gambling premises
(d) separate and identifiable entrances and exits from parts of buildings with

more than one licence.
25

Page 53



DR
AF
T

3. Where category C or above machines are available in premises to which
children are admitted applicants are encouraged to demonstrate that they have
taken such measures to ensure that:

(a) all such machines are located in an area of the premises separated from
the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to
prevent access other than through a designated entrance

(b) only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located
(c) access to the area where the machines are located is supervised
(d) the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be

observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder and
(e) at the entrance to, and inside, any such area there are prominently

displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to
persons under 18.

4. For applications that do not require an operating licence or personal licence,
the Licensing Authority will consider:

(a) any convictions or cautions in relation to the admission of under 18 year
olds

(b) requirement for children under 14 to be accompanied by an adult
(c) measures the applicant is taking to prevent children from being in close

proximity to types of gambling restricted to adults (for example, category
A, B or C gaming machines). Such measures may include “No Under
18s to Play” notices displayed on category A, B and C machine fronts in
alcohol licensed premises, or the adoption of an effective proof of age
scheme.

5. Where there have been convictions or cautions for serving alcohol to under
18s, or allowing under 18s to participate in adult gambling, applicants may be
asked to demonstrate these matters have been addressed. This may give rise
to particular concerns as to whether it will be appropriate to permit the
admission of children to the premises during some or all of its hours of
operation.

6. Where limiting access to children or young persons is considered necessary,
the Licensing Authority will consider the following options:

(a) limiting or excluding when certain activities are taking place or at certain
times

(b) a requirement for children under a certain age to be accompanied by an
adult

(c) an age limitation for under 18s
(d) access may be limited to certain parts of the premises.

5. Location of gambling premises and gaming machines

5.1 When considering authorisations, including the need for conditions to
be attached to licences, the Licensing Authority will primarily focus on

26
Page 54



DR
AF
T

the location, suitability and management of the premises and how this
might directly impact upon the licensing objectives.

5.2 When determining an application to grant or review a premises licence
regard will be given on a case by case basis to the location of the
premises and its proximity to other establishments in terms of the
licensing objectives which include the protection of children and
vulnerable persons and issues of crime and disorder. See paragraph 3
onwards for more details. For crime hotspots and locations of schools,
colleges and nurseries in the borough, please refer to Appendices E
and F respectively.

5.3 Should any specific policy be decided upon regarding areas where
gambling premises should not be located, this statement will be
updated. It should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any
application being made and each application will be decided on its
merits, with the onus upon the applicant showing how potential
concerns can be overcome.

5.4 In addition, where there are specific risks or problems associated with
a particular locality or specific premises, or class of premises,
conditions may be attached to reflect this on a case by case basis,
where permitted by law.

GLP5

Location of gambling premises and gaming machines
1. In considering the locations for a premises licence, permit or notice, the

Licensing Authority may consider:

(a) the proximity of other establishments catering to children or vulnerable
adults, or to places that are frequented by unaccompanied children
and/or vulnerable adults or where children, young people or vulnerable
persons are likely to congregate

(b) the size and scope of the gambling premises concerned
(c) the type of gambling proposed on the premises.

2. In considering the locations for gaming machines, the Licensing Authority may
consider:

(a) the size of the premises and the number of counter positions available
for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the
use of the machines by children and young persons or by vulnerable
people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting
machines an operator wants to offer

(b) the size of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the
machines by children and young persons or by vulnerable people

(c) restricting the number and location of such machines in respect of
applications for track betting premises licences

27
Page 55



DR
AF
T

(d) the location of gaming machines at tracks
(e) the locations of gaming machines where the applicant holds a pool

betting operating licence and wishes to apply for a track premises
licence using their entitlement to four gaming machines. The applicant
will need to demonstrate that these machines are located in areas from
which children are excluded

(f) segregation of category C and D machines in family entertainment
centres.

6. Hours of operation

6.1 The Licensing Authority will have regard to the Guidance and default
conditions relating to operating hours and will consider excluding and
replacing default conditions only if appropriate and on a case by case
basis.

6.2 Where limiting access to children is considered necessary, the
Licensing Authority will consider a limit on the hours when children may
be present on the premises.

GLP6

Hours of operation
The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following, where necessary and
appropriate:

(a) Codes of Practice when determining the hours of operation
(b) licensing hours fixed will always reflect the individual merits of the

application, any relevant representations received and the requirement
to uphold the licensing objectives

(c) earlier hours may be set if the individual circumstances require it.
Applicants are encouraged to demonstrate that there would be no
breach of the licensing objectives if later hours are requested, especially
if requests are made to go beyond midnight in residential areas

(d) the Licensing Authority may consider the levels of relevant crime and
disorder at that premises or in the vicinity of that premises and police
resources available to address this late at night

(e) applicants are encouraged to exclude children from premises or events
where children are present by 9pm unless the applicant can demonstrate
how they can operate beyond these hours without risking harm to
children in these circumstances.

7 Premises licences

7.1 General principles

7.1.1 An application for a premises licence may only be made by persons
over 18 years old, companies or partnerships.

28
Page 56



DR
AF
T

7.1.2 The Licensing Authority can only consider a premises licence
application where the applicant:

● has a right to occupy the premises at the time the application is
made and can provide evidence of this if requested; and

● holds, or has applied for, an operating licence which allows the
proposed activity to be carried out.

7.1.3 It should be noted that the premises licence may only be determined
once the operating licence has been issued by the Gambling
Commission.

7.1.4 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant for a premises licence
to demonstrate that they have or have applied for the appropriate
operating and/or personal licences from the Gambling Commission.

7.1.5 Where no application for an operating licence has been made, the
premises licence application will be refused.

7.1.6 Premises licences will be subject to the requirements set out in the Act
and regulations, which include mandatory and default conditions.
Licensing authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also
attach others where appropriate.

7.2 Definition of “premises”

7.2.1 Premises are defined in the Act as including “any place”. Different
premises licences cannot apply in respect of single premises at
different times. However, it is possible for a single building to be subject
to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different parts
of the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably
regarded as being different premises. This will always be a question of
fact depending on the circumstances and the Guidance provides
further detail on this. It should be noted that areas of a building that are
artificially or temporarily separate cannot be properly regarded as
different premises and the Licensing Authority would therefore normally
expect genuine separation in this regard to be a complete floor to
ceiling physical separation of the premises.

7.2.2 This Licensing Authority will take particular care in considering
applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a
discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes on a
case by case basis and with regard to the Act and the policy behind the
Act, as explained in the Guidance which is to limit the number and type
of machines in particular premises. Where the Licensing Authority is
not satisfied that the premises are separate, it will be unable to issue
further premises licences on that premises concluding that a premises
licence already exists. The following factors will be taken into account
in determining whether the premises is in fact a “premises” and
therefore able to submit such application(s):

29
Page 57



DR
AF
T

● whether entrances and exits which form parts of a building covered
by one or more licences are properly and suitably separate and
identifiable so that the separation of different premises is not
compromised and that people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area. In
this context it is expected that the premises will be separated by a
floor to ceiling division whereby each “premises” can be accessed
without going through another licensed premises or premises with a
permit particularly where this is required by the Act

● whether the premises have a separate registration for business
rates

● whether the premises have different postal addresses
● whether the premises and its neighbouring premises is owned by

the same person
● whether each of the premises can be accessed from the street or a

public passageway
● whether the premises are accessible only from another gambling

premises.

7.2.3 The Licensing Authority will pay particular attention to applications
where access to the licensed premises is through other premises.
There will be specific issues to be considered before granting such
applications, for example:

● whether children are not only prevented from taking part in
gambling but also prevented from being in close proximity to
gambling

● whether children are invited to participate in, can gain accidental
access to or closely observe gambling where they are prohibited
from participating

● compatibility of the two types of establishments
● whether taken as a whole, the co-location of the licensed premises

with other facilities has the effect of creating an arrangement that
otherwise would or should be prohibited under the Act. The
applicant will need to show for example that direct access between
the premises is prevented if the premises licence condition requires
it

● whether customers can primarily participate in the gambling activity
named on the premises licence.

7.2.4 Applicants will need to demonstrate that the primary purpose of the
premises will be fulfilled and are encouraged to provide to the
Licensing Authority the precise arrangements for primary and ancillary
gambling activities at the premises.

7.3 Premises “ready for gambling”

7.3.1 A licence to use a premises for gambling should only be issued in
relation to premises that the Licensing Authority can be satisfied are
going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near
future, consistent with the scale of building or alterations required

30
Page 58



DR
AF
T

before the premises are brought into use. The Guidance provides
advice on this.

7.3.2 In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there is
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this
Authority will determine applications on their merit, considered in a two
stage process:

● firstly, whether as a matter of substance the premises ought to be
permitted to be used for gambling and

● secondly, in deciding whether or not to grant the application,
consider if appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the
situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they
ought to be before gambling takes place.

7.3.3 If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need
alteration, or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them,
then an application for a provisional statement may be a better option.
Applicants are encouraged to discuss which route is appropriate with
the Licensing Authority. For example, where applications are received
in respect of uncompleted premises which it appears are not going to
be ready to be used for gambling for a considerable period of time, the
Licensing Authority ought to consider whether, applying the two stage
process, it should grant a licence or whether the circumstances are
more appropriate for a provisional statement application. Please refer
to paragraph 7 on provisional statements.

7.3.4 If a premises licence is to be sought before the premises is ready to be
used for gambling the applicant should consider offering appropriate
conditions and/or providing a future effective date for the licence to
commence.

7.4 What we consider

7.4.1 All applicants for premises licences are encouraged to set out how they
will promote the licensing objectives, as specified in paragraph 1.2.1
and what measures they intend to employ to ensure compliance with
them. This will assist the Authority, responsible authorities and
interested parties to consider whether the application accords with the
licensing objectives and is therefore more likely to avoid unnecessary
hearings. The applicant may ask the Licensing Authority for advice as
to the scope of information to be provided which will be proportionate to
the scale and nature of the application made.

7.5 Conditions

7.5.1 Licensing is about the control of gambling licensed premises within the
terms of the Act. The starting point in determining applications will be to
grant the application without attaching conditions.

31
Page 59



DR
AF
T

7.5.2 Conditions may be attached to licences that will cover matters within
the control of individual licensees. Conditions are attached to a
premises licence in the following ways:

● automatically under the Act
● through regulations as mandatory and/or default conditions
● by the Licensing Authority.

7.5.3 For instance, there are mandatory conditions which attach to all
licences or licences of a particular class. Specific conditions which
attach to an individual licence will only be attached by the Licensing
Authority following a hearing or where the applicant has agreed
conditions with a responsible authority or interested party.

7.5.4 The Licensing Authority can exclude any default conditions from the
premises licence. The Licensing Authority will where necessary impose
conditions that are:

● in accordance with the Guidance
● in accordance with the Code of Practice
● in accordance with the Policy or
● in a way that is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives.

7.5.5 Conditions imposed by the Licensing Authority will be proportionate to
the circumstances and risks which they are seeking to address. In
particular, the Licensing Authority will where appropriate apply
conditions that are:

● relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a
gambling facility

● directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for
● fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises and
● reasonable in all other respects.

7.5.6 The Licensing Authority does not propose to implement standard
conditions on licences but may attach conditions as appropriate given
the circumstances of each individual case. It will seek to avoid
duplication with other systems so far as possible and will not attach
conditions unless they are considered necessary having regard to
existing regimes. For example, where applicants fail to adequately
address the provisions of the relevant GLPs to the satisfaction of the
Licensing Authority, it may attach conditions to alleviate concerns
triggered by the lack of information provided.

7.5.7 There will be a number of measures the Licensing Authority will
consider utilising should there be a perceived requirement such as the
use of supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas as set out
in GLP2 - 7. There are specific comments made in this regard under
some of the licence types below. The Licensing Authority will also
expect the applicant to offer measures as to ways in which the
licensing objectives can be met effectively.

32
Page 60



DR
AF
T

7.5.8 The Licensing Authority will consider specific measures which may be
required for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.
Such measures may include the proper segregation of primary
gambling activities in addition to matters in GLP1-7. These matters are
in accordance with the Guidance.

7.5.9 This Licensing Authority may contact the Gambling Commission or the
applicant to obtain a copy of the operating licence to consider any
conditions that may cover the way in which the Gambling Commission
expect the objectives to be met. It will assess whether the
corresponding premises licence requires any specific expansion on
these measures by way of conditions based upon the application and
information provided.

7.5.10 There are conditions which the Licensing Authority cannot attach to
premises licences. These are any conditions:

● on the premises licence which make it impossible to comply with an
operating licence condition;

● relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of
operation;

● which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the
Act specifically removes the membership requirement for casino
and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated); and

● in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

GLP7

Premises licences
Applicants for a premises licence are encouraged to consider GLP1 to GLP7
depending on the type of permission being sought.

(1) In addition, applicants for a premises licence are also encouraged to
demonstrate:

(i) that the appropriate operating and personal licences are in place
from the Gambling Commission where relevant and

(ii) that they have a right to occupy the premises at the time of making
the application

(iii
)

how the applicant will promote the licensing objectives with regard
to GLP1 to GLP7.

(2) The Licensing Authority will exclude default conditions or attach
conditions where appropriate.

(3) The Licensing Authority may only consider the grant of a licence where it
is going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near
future and (where necessary) the Licensing Authority and/or responsible
authorities have been allowed to inspect the premises.

33
Page 61



DR
AF
T

(4) For multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of
a building used for other non-gambling purposes the Licensing Authority
will in particular consider:

(i) the measures to prevent people “drifting” into a gambling area
(ii) the potential for children to gain access
(iii
)

the ability of two or more establishments to comply with the
requirements of the Act.

(5) Applicants are encouraged to provide where relevant detailed plans, to
the satisfaction of the Licensing Authority, consisting of:

(i) entrances and exits
(ii) number and positions of counters,
(iii
)

number and positions of gaming machines

(iv
)

location of lighting inside and outside

(v) location of CCTV.

34
Page 62



DR
AF
T

7.6 Adult gaming centres (AGCs)

7.6.1 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to provide sufficient
measures to ensure that persons under 18 years’ old do not have
access to the premises.

GLP8

Adult gaming centres
Applicants are encouraged to have regard to GLP1 - GLP8 when making an
application for an adult gaming centre.

Applicants should where appropriate offer their own measures to meet the
licensing objectives such as:

(a) proof of age schemes
(b) CCTV
(c) physical and/or remote supervision of entrances/machine areas
(d) physical separation of areas.

The above suggested measures are neither mandatory nor exhaustive and may
where relevant be imposed by the Licensing Authority as conditions.

7.7 Licensed family entertainment centres (FECs)

7.7.1 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority
that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that those who are
under 18 years old do not have access to the adult gaming machines.
For example, this could be achieved through the physical segregation
and supervision of these gaming machines.

GLP9

Licensed family entertainment centres

Applicants are encouraged to have regard to GLP1 - GLP7 when making an
application for an FEC.
Applicants should, where appropriate, offer their own measures to meet the
licensing objectives such as:

(a) CCTV
(b) supervision of entrances / machine areas
(c) physical separation of areas
(d) location of entry
(e) notices / signage
(f) specific opening hours
(g) self-barring schemes

35
Page 63



DR
AF
T

(h) provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations
such as GamCare

(i) measures / training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school
children on the premises

(j) measures/training by way of a premises log book, covering how staff
would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the
premises, or children causing perceived problems on/around the
premises.

The above suggested measures are neither mandatory nor exhaustive and may
where relevant be imposed by the Licensing Authority as conditions.

7.8 Bingo premises

7.8.1 Applicants are to have regard to GLP 1 - 7. If children are allowed to
enter premises licensed for bingo, they are not to participate in
gambling, other than on category D machines. Where category C or
above machines are available in premises to which children are
admitted, the Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to comply
with GLP4.

7.8.2 It is noted that door supervisors at bingo premises are exempt from
needing to be SIA registered. This is explained in more detail at
paragraph 4.3.

7.8.3 Applicants will need to demonstrate that bingo can be played on the
proposed bingo premises. This will be a relevant consideration where
the operator of an existing bingo premises applies to vary their licence
to exclude an area of the existing premises from its ambit and then
applies for a new premises licence, or multiple licences, for that or
those excluded areas. Paragraph 7.2 provides detail on the
circumstances in which the splitting of a pre-existing premises into two
adjacent premises may or may not be permitted.

36
Page 64



DR
AF
T

7.9 Betting premises

7.9.1 Children and young people are not permitted to access betting
premises.

7.9.2 For betting machines within a betting premises the Licensing Authority
will take into account the following factors:

● the size of premises
● the number of counter positions available for person-to-person

transactions
● ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children, young

and vulnerable persons.

GLP10

Betting premises
Applicants are encouraged to have regard to GLP1 - GLP7 and GLP10 when
making an application for a betting premises licence.

The Applicant should where appropriate, offer their own measures to meet the
licensing objectives such as:

(a) CCTV
(b) supervision of entrances / machine areas
(c) location of entry
(d) notices / signage
(e) specific opening hours
(f) self-barring schemes
(g) provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such

as GamCare.
The above suggested measures are neither mandatory nor exhaustive and may
where relevant be imposed by the Licensing Authority as conditions.

7.10 Tracks

7.10.1 Applicants are to have regard to GLP 1-11 where relevant. This
Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more
premises licences, provided each licence relates to a specified area of
the track. The Licensing Authority will especially consider the impact
upon the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being
harmed or exploited by gambling and the need for applicants to
demonstrate that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and
that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not
permitted to enter.

7.10.2 It is noted that children and young persons will be permitted to enter
track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when
dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, but they are still prevented

37
Page 65



DR
AF
T

from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D
machines) are provided.

7.10.3 The Guidance sets out the considerations for where gaming machines
may be located on tracks Applications for track premises licences will
need to demonstrate that where the applicant holds a pool betting
operating licence and is going to use their entitlement to four gaming
machines, these machines are located in areas where children are
excluded.

7.10.4 The Licensing Authority where appropriate will attach a condition to
track premises licences requiring the track operator to ensure that the
rules are prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, or that
other measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to the
public. For example, the rules could be printed on the race-card or
made available in leaflet form from the track office.

7.10.5 Separate Guidance has been produced which sets out the specific
requirements for these types of applications. The Licensing Authority
will expect applicants to provide detailed plans for the racetrack itself
and the proposed gambling facilities.

7.10.6 It would be preferable for all self-contained premises operated by
off-course betting operators on a track to be the subject of a separate
premises licence, to ensure that there is clarity between the respective
responsibilities of the track operator and the off-course betting
operator. For occasional permissions to carry out betting on tracks,
please refer to paragraph 14 which deals with occasional use notices.

GLP11

Tracks
Applicants are also to have regard to GLP 1 – GLP 11 where relevant.

1. The applicant should where appropriate demonstrate the following measures
have been addressed:

(a) entrances to each type of premises are distinct
(b) children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted

to enter
(c) children do not have access to adult only gaming facilities
(d) track operators ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in or near

the betting areas, or that other measures are taken to ensure that they
are made available to the public

(e) detailed plans are provided to the Licensing Authority for the racetrack
itself and the area that will be used for temporary “on-course” betting
facilities (for dog tracks and horse racecourses, show fixed and mobile
pool betting facilities operated by the Tote or track operator, as well as
any other proposed gambling facilities)

38
Page 66



DR
AF
T

(f) identify what authorisations are being sought under the track betting
premises licence along with any other areas that may be subject to a
separate application for a different type of premises licence

(g) where category C or above machines are on offer in premises to which
children are admitted, the relevant considerations in GLP4 should be
addressed.

2. This Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to
meet the licensing objectives such as:

(a) proof of age schemes
(b) CCTV
(c) supervision of entrances / machine areas
(d) physical separation of areas
(e) location of entry
(f) notices / signage
(g) specific opening hours
(h) self-barring schemes
(i) provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such

as GamCare.

The above suggested measures are neither mandatory nor exhaustive and may
where relevant be imposed by the Licensing Authority as conditions.

7.11 Travelling fairs

7.11.1 Travelling fairs do not require any permit to provide gaming machines
but must comply with the legal requirements in how the machine
operates in a fair and open way (please refer to GLP3 for more detail).
They may provide an unlimited number of Category D gaming
machines and the Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to
demonstrate that the gambling facilities amount to no more than an
ancillary amusement at the fair.

7.11.2 The Licensing Authority will consider whether the statutory definition of
a travelling fair applies. The 27 day statutory maximum (per calendar
year) for the land being used as a fair applies to the land on which the
fairs are held, regardless of whether the same or a different travelling
fair occupies the land.

7.11.3 The Licensing Authority will work with neighbouring authorities to
ensure that land that crosses shared boundaries is monitored so that
the statutory limits are not exceeded.

8. Provisional statements

8.1 An application for a provisional statement can be made where the
applicant expects the premises to be constructed, to be altered or to
acquire a right to occupy. Such an application is a separate and distinct
process to the granting of planning permission or building control.

39
Page 67



DR
AF
T

8.2 Following the grant of a provisional statement, no further
representations from responsible authorities or interested parties can
be taken into account in the determination of a premises licence
application, unless they concern matters which could not have been
addressed at the provisional statement stage, or in the opinion of the
Licensing Authority, they reflect a change in the applicant’s
circumstances.

GLP12

Provisional Statements
Applicants should have regard to GLP1 – GLP 11 where relevant.
Applications for provisional statements shall be dealt with in the same way as a
premises licence.

9. Unlicensed family entertainment centres (unlicensed FECs)
gaming machine permits: Statement of principles on permits

9.1 Where category D gaming machines are only to be provided,
applicants may apply to the Licensing Authority for an unlicensed FEC
gaming machine permit. The applicant must show that the premises
will be wholly or mainly used for making gambling available for use. An
application for this permit cannot be made where a premises licence
has effect on the same premises.

9.2 The Licensing Authority may only grant or reject an application for a
permit and cannot impose or attach any conditions.

9.3 The Gambling Commission will not be involved in this process as
neither an operating licence nor a personal licence is required. It is
therefore essential that the Licensing Authority satisfies itself as to the
suitability of the applicant and to the operation being proposed.

9.4 The Licensing Authority must be satisfied that:

a) the applicant has demonstrated that the premises will be used
as an unlicensed FEC and

b) Hackney Police have been consulted on the application.

9.5 The Licensing Authority will look at the suitability of an applicant for a
permit. As unlicensed FECs will particularly appeal to children and
young persons, the Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to
demonstrate their suitability and the measures in place to protect
children from harm as well as to prevent crime and disorder by
providing the following:

● applicant and staff training/ understanding of the maximum stakes
and prizes that is permissible in unlicensed FECs

40
Page 68



DR
AF
T

● applicant’s Disclosure and Barring Service check or equivalent, as
agreed with the police. This may include a requirement to provide
details of residential addresses over the last five years

● applicant’s previous history and experience of running similar
premises

● any policies and procedures in place
● a scaled plan of the premises
● a written operating schedule
● any supporting documentation as to the design and layout of the

premises.

9.6 Harm in the context of protecting children is not limited to harm from
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. As such,
any policies and procedures will each be considered on their overall
merits.

9.7 The Licensing Authority will have regard to the Policy, the licensing
objectives and any relevant Guidance or Code of Practice when
considering a permit application. Applicants should in particular have
regard to GLP1, GLP2, GLP5, GLP7 and GLP13 when making an
application, but need to also consider GLP3, GLP4 and GLP6 where
these relate to children and young persons.

9.8 This Statement applies to initial applications only and not to renewals.
The Licensing Authority may refuse an application for renewal of a
permit only on the grounds that an authorised Local Authority officer
has been refused access to the premises without reasonable excuse,
or that renewal would not be reasonably consistent with the pursuit of
the licensing objectives.

9.9 Where there is such a refusal, the Licensing Authority will notify the
applicant of its intention to refuse and the reasons for the refusal. The
applicant will then have an opportunity to make representations orally,
in writing or both and will have a right of appeal against any decision
made.

9.10 Where the permit has been granted the Licensing Authority will issue
the permit as soon as is reasonably practicable and in any event in line
with Regulations. The permit will then remain in effect for 10 years
unless surrendered or lapsed.

9.11 Details of applications for unlicensed FEC permits will be available on
the Council’s website or by contacting the Licensing Service.

9.12 Applicants for unlicensed FEC permits are expected to undertake that
they will comply with BACTA’s Code of Practice for Amusement with
Prizes Machines in Family Entertainment Centres. This code of
practice promotes awareness of social responsibility and
acknowledges that proactive specific and appropriate commitment will
be given to educating children and young persons, thereby minimising
the potential for harm.

41
Page 69



DR
AF
T

GLP13
Statement of principles for unlicensed family entertainment centres
(unlicensed FECs)

Applicants for an unlicensed family entertainment centre permit are to have regard
to GLP1 - GLP7 and GLP9 where relevant.

1. Applicants are required to demonstrate that:

(a) they have permission to occupy the premises at the time of making the
application

(b) the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC and
(c) the Chief Officer of Police for Hackney Borough has been consulted on

the application.

2. Applications should normally be accompanied by an assessment of how the
applicant will promote the licensing objectives with regard to GLP1 to GLP7 to
demonstrate such matters as:

(a) numbers of staff employed and on duty at any given time
(b) details of opening hours
(c) details of Proof of Age schemes
(d) adoption of appropriate measures/training for staff as regards suspected

truanting school children on the premises
(e) evidence of staff training by way of a Premises Log Book, covering how

staff will deal with unsupervised very young children being on the
premises, or children causing perceived problems on or around the
premises

(f) Evidence that the applicant and staff are trained to have a full
understanding of the maximum stake and prizes that are permissible.

3. The application must also be accompanied by detailed plans drawn up to the
satisfaction of the Licensing Authority and which include:

(a) location of entrances and exits
(b) number and positions of Category D machines
(c) location of lighting inside and outside
(d) location of CCTV
(e) the amount of space around gaming machines to prevent jostling of

players or intimidation
(f) location and supervision of Automated Teller Machines
(g) the location of appropriate clear and prominent notices and barriers,

such notices to state:

(i) that no unaccompanied child will be permitted to remain on the
premises if that person is required by law to attend school

(ii) no smoking on the premises
(iii
)

the need to play responsibly.

42
Page 70



DR
AF
T

4. The application should normally also be accompanied by:

(a) evidence that the applicant and staff have no relevant convictions (those
that are in Schedule 7 of the Act)

(b) insurance documents and any other such information the Licensing
Authority will from time to time require.

10. Prize gaming permits: Statement of principles

10.1 Prize gaming permits allow the provision of facilities for gaming with
prizes on specified premises. Prize gaming refers to gaming where the
nature and size of the prize is not determined by the number of people
playing or the amount for or raised by the gambling. The Act makes no
provision for single site gaming machine permits such as fish and chip
shops, minicab offices and cafes.

10.2 In determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit this Licensing
Authority will expect the applicant to set out the types of gaming to be
offered demonstrating:

● that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out
in Regulations; and

● that the gaming offered is within the law
● that they meet the objective of carrying out gambling openly and

fairly as set out at GLP3
● that the premises are mainly or wholly used for gambling purposes.

10.3 In making its decision on an application for this permit the Licensing
Authority does not need to have regard to the licensing objectives but
must have regard to any Guidance.

10.4 The Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions to a permit however,
the permit holder must comply with the following statutory conditions:

● the limits on participation fees, as set out in Regulations
● all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the

premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the
game must be played and completed on the day the chances are
allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in the
premises on the day that it is played

● the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount
set out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if a
non-monetary prize); and

● participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in
any other gambling.

11. Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits

11.1 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for
consumption on the premises to automatically have 2 gaming
machines of categories C and/or D. The premises merely notify the

43
Page 71



DR
AF
T

Licensing Authority of this automatic entitlement. The only exception to
this entitlement is where alcohol is provided ancillary to a table meal.

11.2 Once notice has been acknowledged, the Licensing Authority can
remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular
premises if:

● provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the
pursuit of the licensing objectives

● gaming has taken place on the premises where the following
conditions have not been met:

o written notice has been provided to the Licensing Authority
o the correct fee has been submitted and
o any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling

Commission about the location and operation of the gaming
machine has been complied with

● the premises are mainly used for gaming or
● an offence under the Act has been committed on the premises.

11.3 The Licensing Authority shall, before removing this automatic
entitlement, give the licence holder 21 days’ notice of its intention,
consider any representations made by the licence holder and hold a
hearing if requested.

11.4 If an alcohol licensed premises wishes to have 3 or more category C or
D gaming machines, then it needs to apply for an alcohol licensed
gaming machine permit specifying the premises in respect of which the
permit is sought and the number and category of gaming machines.
Where the application requirements are not met it will be deemed that
the application has not been made correctly and will be returned to the
applicant. The Licensing Authority must consider a valid application
based upon the licensing objectives, any Guidance and Codes of
Practice, comments from responsible authorities and “such matters as
they think relevant.”

11.5 The Licensing Authority considers “such matters” on a case by case
basis and has produced policy considerations when determining such
applications. This document entitled “Licensing Authority Policy
Considerations for 3 or more Gaming Machines on Alcohol Licensed
Premises” is available on request from the Licensing Service.

12 Club gaming and club machine permits

12.1 Members clubs and miners’ welfare institutes may apply for a club
gaming permit or a club machine permit.

12.2 Commercial clubs may only apply for a club machine permit.

44
Page 72



DR
AF
T

12.3 The club gaming permit will enable the premises to provide gaming
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming
and games of chance as set-out in forthcoming regulations.

12.4 A club machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D).

12.5 Members clubs and commercial clubs must:

● have at least 25 members
● be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other

than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate
regulations

● be permanent in nature.

12.6 Members clubs must, in addition to the above:

● not be established to make a commercial profit
● be controlled by its members equally.

12.7 Members clubs include bridge and whist clubs, working men’s clubs,
branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations.

12.8 Commercial clubs have the same characteristics as members clubs
however, the key difference is that they are established with a view to
making profit. An example of this would be a snooker club.

12.9 A Licensing Authority may only refuse an application on the grounds
that:

a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’
club or miners’ welfare institute or commercial club and
therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for which it
has applied;

b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children
and/or young persons;

c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been
committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities;

d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the
previous ten years; or

e) an objection has been lodged by the Gambling Commission or
the police.

12.10 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for
premises which hold a club premises certificate under the Licensing
Act 2003. Under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for
objections to be made by the Gambling Commission or the police, and
the grounds upon which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced.
The grounds for refusal are:

45
Page 73



DR
AF
T

a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than
gaming prescribed under schedule 12 of the Act;

b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides
facilities for other gaming; or

c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the
applicant in the last ten years has been cancelled.

12.11 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child
uses a category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder
complies with any relevant Codes of Practice about the location and
operation of gaming machines.

13 Temporary use notices (TUNs)

13.1 TUNs allow the holder of an operating licence to temporarily use a set
of premises for gambling where there is no premises licence in place.
Hotels, conference centres or sporting venues may typically utilise this
permission. A set of premises can be subject to TUNs for up to 21 days
in any 12 month period.

13.2 The notice must be lodged with the Licensing Authority no less than 3
months and one day from the event, and copies sent to the Gambling
Commission, the police and HM Commissioner for Revenue and
Customs.

13.3 There are a number of statutory limits regarding temporary use notices.

13.4 The definition of "a set of premises" will be a question of fact in the
particular circumstances of each notice that is given. In the Act
"premises" is defined as including "any place" and applicants will note
paragraphs 6.2 which set out the expectations in this regard. In
considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of
premises", licensing authorities will need to look at, amongst other
things, the ownership, occupation and control of the premises. For
example, an exhibition centre may cover one set of premises. This
compares to a shopping centre which may cover different sets of
premises as it may be occupied and controlled by different people.

13.5 This is a new permission and the Licensing Authority will be ready to
object to notices where it appears that their effect would be to permit
regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of
premises.

GLP14

Temporary use notices (TUNs)

The Licensing Authority will expect the licensee to demonstrate that measures
have been taken to promote the licensing objectives having regard to GLP1 -
GLP10 where relevant. The Licensing Authority, will require 3 months and one day

46
Page 74



DR
AF
T

written notice and copies sent to the Gambling Commission, the police and HM
Commissioner for Revenue and Customs prior to the gambling event taking place.

14 Occasional use notices

14.1 This notice allows for betting on a track without the need for a premises
licence on 8 days or less in a calendar year. The Licensing Authority
has very little discretion regarding these notices aside from ensuring
that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.
This Licensing Authority will consider the definition of a ‘track’ and
whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.

15 Small society lotteries

15.1 Under the Act, a lottery is unlawful unless it runs with an operating
licence or is an exempt lottery. The Licensing Authority will register and
administer small society lotteries (as defined). Promoting or facilitating
a lottery will fall within 2 categories:

● licensed lotteries (requiring an operating licence from the Gambling
Commission) and

● exempt lotteries (including small society lotteries registered by the
Licensing Authority).

15.2 Exempt lotteries are lotteries permitted to run without a licence from the
Gambling Commission.

15.3 Societies may organise lotteries if they are licensed by the Gambling
Commission or fall within the exempt category. The Licensing Authority
recommends those seeking to run lotteries take their own legal advice
on which type of lottery category they fall within. Guidance notes on all
lotteries, limits placed on small society lotteries and information setting
out financial limits is available by contacting the Licensing Service.

15.4 Applicants for registration of small society lotteries must apply to the
Licensing Authority in the area where their principal office is located.
Where the Licensing Authority believes that the Society’s principal
office is situated in another area it will inform the Society as soon as
possible and where possible, will inform the other Licensing Authority.

15.5 Lotteries will be regulated through a licensing and registration scheme,
conditions imposed on licences by the Gambling Commission, Codes
of Practice and any Guidance. In exercising its functions with regard to
small society and exempt lotteries, the Licensing Authority will have
due regard to the Guidance.

15.6 The Licensing Authority will keep a public register of all applications
and will provide information to the Gambling Commission on all
lotteries registered by the Licensing Authority. As soon as the entry on
the register is completed, the Licensing Authority will notify the
applicant of their registration. In addition, the Licensing Authority will

47
Page 75



DR
AF
T

make available for inspection by the public the financial statements or
returns submitted by societies in the preceding 18 months and will
monitor the cumulative totals for each society to ensure the annual
monetary limit is not breached. If there is any doubt, the Licensing
Authority will notify the Gambling Commission in writing, copying this to
the Society concerned. The Licensing Authority will accept return
information either manually but preferably electronically by emailing
licensing@hackney.gov.uk.

15.7 The Licensing Authority will refuse applications for registration if in the
previous five years, either an operating licence held by the applicant for
registration has been revoked, or an application for an operating
licence made by the applicant for registration has been refused. Where
the Licensing Authority is uncertain as to whether or not an application
has been refused, it will contact the Gambling Commission to seek
advice.

15.8 The Licensing Authority may refuse an application for registration if in
their opinion:

● the applicant is not a non-commercial society
● a person who will or may be connected with the promotion of the

lottery has been convicted of a relevant offence or
● information provided in or with the application for registration is

false or misleading.

15.9 The Licensing Authority will ask applicants to complete an application
form setting out the purposes for which the Society is established and
will ask the Society to declare that they represent a bona fide
non-commercial society and have no relevant convictions. The
Licensing Authority may seek further information from the Society.

5.10 Where the Licensing Authority intends to refuse registration of a
Society, it will give the Society an opportunity to make representations
and will inform the Society of the reasons why it is minded to refuse
registration and supply evidence on which it has reached that
preliminary conclusion. In any event, the Licensing Authority will make
available its procedures on how it handles representations.

15.11 The Licensing Authority may revoke the registered status of a Society if
it thinks that they would have had to, or would be entitled to refuse an
application for registration if it were being made at that time. However,
no revocations will take place unless the Society has been given the
opportunity to make representations. The Licensing Authority will
inform the Society of the reasons why it is minded to revoke the
registration in the same manner it would be minded to refuse
registration.

15.12 Where a Society employs an external lottery manager, they will need to
satisfy themselves that they hold an operator’s licence issued by the

48
Page 76



DR
AF
T

Gambling Commission and the Licensing Authority will expect this to
be verified by the Society.

16 Enforcement and inspection

16.1 The Licensing Authority will investigate complaints against licensed
premises in relation to matters for which it has responsibility. The
Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number
of premises within its area. In order to ensure that any compliance
issues are recognised and resolved at the earliest stage, operators are
requested to give the Authority a single named point of contact, who
should be a senior individual, and whom the authority will contact first
should any compliance queries or issues arise.

16.2 Where it is appropriate to follow an inspection and/or enforcement
approach, the Licensing Authority’s principles are that it will be guided
by the Guidance and will endeavour to be:

● proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary;
remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs
identified and minimised

● accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be
subject to public scrutiny

● consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented
fairly

● transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations
simple and user friendly and

● targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and
minimise side effects.

16.3 This Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other
regulatory regimes so far as possible.

16.4 The Licensing Authority has adopted and implemented a risk based
inspection programme based on:

● the licensing objectives
● relevant Codes of Practice
● Guidance
● the Policy.

16.5 The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority
is to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other
permissions which it authorises. The Gambling Commission will be the
enforcement body for the operating and personal licences, dealing also
with concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming
machines.

16.7 Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, this Licensing Authority’s
enforcement protocol has been developed and is available upon
request from the Licensing Service.

49
Page 77



DR
AF
T

GLP15

Enforcement
The Licensing Authority will inspect premises that are the subject of a new
premises licence application and reserves the right to inspect premises for which a
permit or other permission has been sought from the Licensing Authority under the
provisions of the Act.

(a) Inspections will be undertaken by the Licensing Authority and/or a
relevant responsible authority

(b) Where the applicant has not allowed reasonable access permission will
normally be refused.

(c) The Licensing Authority and/or relevant responsible authority reserve the
right to inspect premises at any time following the grant of a licence,
permit or other permission, as permitted by the Act.

17 Licensing reviews

17.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested
parties or responsible authorities. The Licensing Authority will then
decide whether the review is to be carried out on the basis of whether
the request for the review is relevant.

17.2 Due consideration will be given to all representations unless the
grounds:

a) Are frivolous
b) Are vexatious
c) Are irrelevant
d) Will certainly not cause the Licensing Authority to revoke or

suspend a licence or to remove, amend or attach conditions on
the premises licence

e) Are substantially the same as the grounds cited in a previous
application relating to the same premises; or the grounds are
substantially the same as representations made at the time the
application for a premises licence was considered.

17.3 The Authority will also consider whether the request for the review is:

● in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the
Gambling Commission

● in accordance with any relevant Guidance
● reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
● in accordance with the Statement.

17.4 Where a valid application for a licence to be reviewed has been
received, the Licensing Authority may initially arrange a conciliation
meeting to address and clarify the issues of concern. This process will

50
Page 78



DR
AF
T

not override the right of any interested party to ask that the licensing
committee consider their valid representations, or for any licence
holder to decline to participate in a conciliation meeting.

17.5 The Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the
basis of any reason which it thinks is appropriate or of its own volition.

17.6 Representations may include issues relating to the following:

The use of licensed premises for:

● the sale and distribution of class A drugs and/or the laundering of
the proceeds of drugs crimes

● the sale and distribution of illegal firearms
● prostitution or the sale of unlawful pornography, sexual exploitation

and trafficking
● organised crime activity
● the organisation of racist, homophobic or sexual abuse or attacks
● the sale of smuggled tobacco or goods or pirated DVDs
● the sale of stolen goods
● for the sale of items which require additional licences which are not

in place, for example, for the sale of knives, alcohol and/or fireworks
● Children and/or vulnerable persons being put at risk.

17.7 This is not an exhaustive list and other matters may be considered.

18 Revocation and cancellation

18.1 One of the possible outcomes of a review of premises licence is to
revoke the licence where justified.

18.2 With regard to permits and registrations the Licensing Authority may
seek to revoke these or cancel an annual renewal under certain
circumstances. Generally this will be where the Licensing Authority
thinks that they would have had to, or would be entitled to, refuse an
application for a permit or registration if it were being made at that time.

18.3 However, no revocations or cancellations will take place unless the
licensee or permit holders have been given the opportunity to make
representations. The Licensing Authority will state reasons for why it is
minded to revoke the authorisation and will provide an outline of the
evidence on which it has reached that preliminary conclusion.

18.4 For FECs the Licensing Authority may refuse an application for renewal
of a permit only on the grounds that an authorised local authority officer
has been refused access to the premises without reasonable excuse,
or that renewal would not be reasonably consistent with the pursuit of
the licensing objectives.

19 Appeals

51
Page 79



DR
AF
T

19.1 In relation to premises licences, club gaming permits, club machine
permits, and alcohol licensed premises gaming machines, any party to
a Licensing Authority decision who is aggrieved by that decision may
lodge an appeal to the magistrates’ court within 21 days of receiving
notice of the Authority’s decision.

19.2 In relation to decisions on FEC gaming machine permits and travelling
fairs, the applicant can lodge an appeal against the Authority’s decision
with the magistrates’ court within 21 days of receiving notice of the
Authority’s decision.

19.3 A person giving notice of a TUN or those entitled to receive a copy of a
TUN may lodge an appeal within 14 days from receipt of decision to
the magistrates’ court.

20 Further information

20.1 Further information about the Gambling Act 2005, this Policy or the
application process can be obtained from:

Licensing Service
Hackney Service Centre
1 Hillman Street
London
E8 1DY
Tel: 020 8356 2431
licensing@hackney.gov.uk
www.hackney.gov.uk/gambling

20.2 Information is also available from:
Gambling Commission
Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham
B2 4BP.
info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

52
Page 80



DR
AF
T

Appendix A: Glossary of useful terms

Applications Applications for licences and permits
Authorisations As defined in paragraph 1.3.3
Authorised Local Authority
Officer

A Licensing Authority Officer who is an authorised
person for a purpose relating to premises in that
authority’s area.

Authorised Person A Licensing Officer and an officer of an authority
other than a Licensing Authority, both of whom have
been authorised for a purpose relating to premises in
that authority’s area. The following are considered
authorised persons:
• Inspectors appointed under the Fire Precautions Act
1971;
• Inspectors appointed under the Health and Safety
at Work, etc. Act 1974
• Inspectors or Surveyors of ships appointed under
the Merchant Shipping Act 1995;
• A person in a class prescribed in regulations by the
secretary of State.

Automated Roulette
Equipment

2 types: a) Linked to a live game of chance, e.g.
Roulette b) Plays live automated game, i.e. operates
without human intervention

Automatic Conditions Conditions attached automatically to premises
licences or authorisations. The Licensing Authority
has no discretion not to include or modify them.

AWP machines Amusement with Prizes Machines e.g. certain fruit
machines

BACTA British Amusement Catering Trade Association

Betting Intermediary Offers services via remote communication, such as
the internet.

Betting Ring Betting Machines
Bingo Casino

An area that is used for temporary ‘on course’ betting
facilities. A machine designed or adapted for use to
bet on future real events (not a Gaming Machine)
where a bet can be placed on the shop floor without
the need to visit the counter. A game of equal
chance. An arrangement whereby people are given
an opportunity to participate in one or more casino
games.

Casino Games Games of chance that are not equal chance gaming.
Casino Premises Licence
Categories

a) Regional Casino Premises Licence
b) Large Casino Premises Licence
c) Small Casino Premises Licence
d) Casinos permitted under transitional arrangements

Casino Resolution Resolution not to issue casino premises licences

Child Individual who is less than 16 years’ old.

53
Page 81



DR
AF
T

Club Gaming Permit Enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3
machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance
gaming and games of chance as set-out in
forthcoming regulations.

Club Machine Permit Permit to enable the premises to provide gaming
machines (3 machines of Categories B, C or D)

Code of Practice Means any relevant code of practice under section 24
of the Gambling Act 2005

Complex Lottery An arrangement where:
• Persons are required to pay to participate in the
arrangement;
• In the course of the arrangement, one or more
prizes are allocated to one or more members of a
class;
• The prizes are allocated by a series of processes;
and
• The first of those processes relies wholly on
chance.

Council Hackney Council

Customer Lotteries Lotteries run by the occupiers of business premises
who sell tickets only to customers present on their
premises. These lotteries may not be conducted on
vessels.

Default Conditions Conditions that will apply unless the Licensing
Authority decide to exclude them. This may apply to
all Premises Licences, to a class of Premises Licence
or Licences for specified circumstances.

Delegated Powers Decisions delegated either to a Licensing Committee,
Sub-Committee or Licensing Officers.

Domestic Computer Definition in forthcoming Regulations. Exempt from a
Gaming Machine Permit.

Disorder No set interpretation. However, likely to be connected
to the way gambling is being conducted. In the case
of gambling premises licences, disorder is intended
to mean activity that is more serious and disruptive
than mere nuisance.

Equal Chance Gaming Games that do not involve playing or staking against
a bank and where the chances are equally favourable
to all participants

EBT Electronic Bingo Ticket Minders. Electronic
equipment operated by a Bingo Operators Licence
for the purposes of playing bingo.

Exempt Lotteries Lotteries specified in the Gambling Act as permitted
to be run without a licence from the Gambling
Commission. There are 4 types:
• Small Society Lottery (required to register with
Licensing Authorities.

54
Page 82



DR
AF
T

• Incidental Non Commercial Lotteries e.g. Raffle at a
dance/church fair
• Private Lotteries e.g. Raffle at a student hall of
residence
• Customer Lotteries e.g. Supermarket holding a
hamper raffle

External Lottery Manager An individual, firm or company appointed by the
Small Lottery Society to manage a lottery on their
behalf. They are consultants who generally take their
fees from the expenses of the lottery.

Fixed Odds Betting General betting on tracks.

Fixed Odds Betting Terminal A category B2 gaming machine

Game of chance A game of chance can include an element of chance
and an element of skill. This does not include a sport.

Gaming Playing a game of chance for a prize.
Gaming Machine Machine covering all types of gambling activity,

including AWP machines and betting on virtual
events
Categories

Max. Stake Max Prize
A Unlimited Unlimited

B1 £5 £10,000
B2 £100 (in multiples of £10) £500
B3A £2 £500
B3 £2 £500
B4 £2 £400
C £1 £100
D (money prize) 10p £5
D (non-money
prize (other
than a crane
grab machine)) 30p

£8

D (– non-money
prize (crane
grab machine)
D (money
prize) £1

£50

D - combined
money and
non-money
prize
(other than a
coin pusher or
penny falls
machine) 10p

£8 (of which no more than
£5 may be a money prize)

55
Page 83



DR
AF
T

D - combined
money and
non-money
prize
(coin pusher
or penny falls
machine) 20p

£20 (of which no more
than £10 may be a money
prize)

Guidance Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission.
Human Rights Act 1998
Articles: 1, 6, 8 and 10

Article 1: Protocol 1 – the right to peaceful enjoyment
of possessions
Article 6: - the right to a fair hearing
Article 8: - the right of respect for private and family
life
Article 10: - the right to freedom of expression

Incidental Non-Commercial
Lottery

A lottery promoted wholly for purposes other than
private game, and which are incidental to non-
commercial events, for example commonly charity
fund raising events, lottery held at a school fete or at
a social event such as a dinner dance.

Information Exchange Exchanging of information with other regulatory
bodies under the Gambling Act.

Interested Party Interested parties can make representations about
licence applications, or apply for a review of an
existing licence.
A person who:
• Lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely
affected by the
authorised activities
• Has business interests that might be affected by the
authorised activities
• Represents persons in either of the above groups

Irrelevant Representations • Where other legislation can cover the
representation
• Demand in premises licensing

Large Lottery Where the total value of tickets in any one lottery
exceeds £20,000 OR tickets in separate lotteries in
one calendar year exceeds £250,000. This requires
an Operating Licence.

Licences As detailed in paragraph 6

Licensed Lottery Large society lotteries and lotteries run for the benefit
of local authorities which will be regulated by the
Gambling Commission. Operating Licences will be
required.

Licensing Authority The London Borough of Hackney
Licensing Committee A committee of 10 to 15 Councillors appointed by the

Council to represent the Licensing Authority.
Licensing Objectives As defined in paragraph 1.2

56
Page 84



DR
AF
T

Licensing Sub Committee A sub-committee of elected Council members
appointed from the Licensing Committee to whom the
functions of the Licensing Committee can be
delegated under the Act to determine applications.

Live Gaming Gambling on a live game as it happens.
Lottery An arrangement which satisfies the statutory

description of either a simple lottery or a complex
lottery in Section 14 of the Act.

Lottery Tickets Tickets that must:
• Identify the promoting society
• State the price of the ticket, which must be the
same for all tickets
• State the name and address of the member of the
Society who is designated as having responsibility at
the Society for the promotion of the lottery, or, if there
is one, the external lottery manager; and
• State the date of the draw, or enable the date of the
draw to be determined.

Mandatory Conditions Conditions that must be attached to a licence. This
may apply to all Premises Licences, to a class of
Premises Licence or licences for specified
circumstances.

Members’ Club A club that must
• have at least 25 members
• be established and conducted ‘wholly or mainly’ for
purposes other than gaming
• be permanent in nature
• not established to make commercial profit •
controlled by its members equally.

Notifications Notifications of temporary and occasional use notices

Non Commercial Event An event where all the money raised at the event,
including entrance fees, goes entirely to purposes
that are not for private gain.

Non Commercial Society/
Small Society Lotteries

A society established and conducted:
•for charitable
purposes
• for the purpose of enabling participation in, or of
supporting, sport athletics or a cultural activity; or
• for any other non-commercial purpose other than
that of private gain

Occasional Use Notice Betting may be permitted on a ‘track’ without the
need for a full Premises Licence.

Off Course Betting Betting that takes place other than at a track, i.e. at a
licensed betting shop.

Off Course Betting – Tracks Betting that takes place in self-contained betting
premises within the track premises providing facilities
for off course betting, i.e. on other events, not just
those taking place on the track. Normally operate

57
Page 85



DR
AF
T

only on race days.
On Course Betting - Tracks Betting that takes place on a track while races are

taking place
Operating Licences Licence to permit individuals and companies to

provide facilities for certain types of gambling. They
may authorise remote or non-remote gambling.

Permits Authorisation to provide a gambling facility where the
stakes and prizes are very low or gambling is not the
main function of the premises.

Personal Licence Formal authorisation to individuals who control
facilities for gambling or are able to influence the
outcome of gambling. These cannot be held by
companies.

Pool Betting – Tracks Betting offered at a horse racecourse by the Tote and
at a dog track by the holder of the premises licence
for the track

Premises Defined as ‘any place’. It is for the Licensing Authority
to decide whether different parts of a building can be
properly regarded as being separate premises.

Premises Licence Licence to authorise the provision of gaming facilities
on casino premises, bingo premises, betting
premises, including tracks, adult gaming centres and
family entertainment centres

Private Lotteries
(For example, sweepstakes)

3 Types of Private Lotteries:
• Private Society Lotteries – tickets may only be sold
to members of the Society or persons who are on the
premises of the Society
• Work Lotteries – the promoters and purchasers of
tickets must all work on a single set of work premises
• Residents’ Lotteries – promoted by, and tickets may
only be sold to, people who live at the same set of
premises;

Prize Gaming Where the nature and size of the prize is not
determined by the number of people playing or the
amount paid for or raised by the gaming. The prizes
will be determined by the operator before play
commences.

Prize Gaming Permit A permit to authorise the provision of facilities for
gaming with prizes on specific premises.

Provisional Statement Where an applicant can make an application to the
Licensing Authority in respect
of premises that he:
• Expects to be constructed
• Expects to be altered
• Expects to acquire a right to occupy.

Racino Casino located at a racecourse.

Regulations Regulations made under the Gambling Act 2005

58
Page 86



DR
AF
T

Relevant Representations Representations that relate to the Licensing
Objectives, or that raise issues under the Licensing
Policy Statement or the Gambling Commission’s
Guidance or Codes of Practice.

Responsible Authorities Responsible authorities can make representations
about licence applications, or apply for a review of an
existing licence.
For the purposes of this Act, the following are
responsible authorities in relation to premises:
1. The Council’s Licensing Authority whose area the
premises must wholly or mainly be situated;
2. The Gambling Commission;
3. Hackney Police;
4. London Fire Brigade;
5. Planning Authority, Hackney Council;
6. Environmental Health and Enforcement, Hackney
Council;
7. City and Hackney Safeguarding Children's Board ;
8. HM Customs and Excise.

N.B. In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s
guidance for local authorities this authority
designates the City and Hackney Safeguarding
Children's Board for this purpose. The contact details
for all responsible authorities under the Gambling Act
2005 will be available via the Council’s website at
www.hackney.gov,uk/licensing

SIA Security Industry Authority
Simple Lottery An arrangement where:

• Persons are required to pay to participate in the
arrangement
• In the course of the arrangement, one or more
prizes are allocated to one or more members of a
class; and
• The prizes are allocated by a process which relies
wholly on chance.
For example, a raffle.

Skills with Prizes A machine on which the winning of a prize is
determined only by the player’s skill and there is no
element of chance, e.g. trivia game machine,
Formula 1 simulators, shooting game. Skills
Machines are unregulated.

Small Lottery Where the total value of tickets in a single lottery is
£20,000 or less and the aggregate value of the
tickets in a calendar year is £250,000 or less.

Small Society Lottery A lottery promoted on behalf of a non-commercial
society, i.e. lotteries intended to raise funds for good
causes.

59
Page 87



DR
AF
T

Small Operations Independent on course betting operators with only
one or two employees or a bookmaker running just
one shop.

Society The society or any separate branch of such a society,
on whose behalf a lottery is to be promoted.

Statement of Principles
Matters taken into account when considering an
applicant’s suitability for applications for FEC
Permits.

Temporary Use Notice To allow the use of premises for gambling where
there is no premises licence but where a gambling
operator wishes to use the premises temporarily for
providing facilities for gambling.

Totalisator or Tote Pool betting on tracks.

Touch Bet Roulette Where a player gambles on a live game of chance
without actually being seated.

Track Sites where races or other sporting events take place
e.g. horse racing, dog racing or any other premises
on any part of which a race or other sporting event
takes place or is intended to take place.

Travelling Fair A fair that ‘wholly or principally’ provides amusements
and must be on a site used for fairs for no more than
27 days per calendar year.

Vehicles Defined as trains, road vehicles, aircraft, sea planes
and amphibious vehicles other than hovercraft. No
form of commercial betting and gaming is permitted

Vessel Anything (other than a seaplane or amphibious
vehicle) designed or adapted for use on water; a
hovercraft; or anything, or part of any place, situated
on or in water.

Vessel and Relevant Licensing
Authority

The Licensing Authority for the area in which the
vessel is usually moored or berthed.

Virtual Betting Machine that takes bets on virtual races, i.e. images
generated by computer to resemble races or other
events.

Vulnerable Persons Include people who gamble more than they want to;
people who gamble beyond their means; and people
who may not be able to make informed or balanced
decisions about gambling due to mental impairment,
alcohol or drugs. For example, this may include those
persons who are under the influence of alcohol
and/or are drunk.

Young Person An individual who is not a child but who is less than
18 years old.

60
Page 88



DR
AF
T

Appendix B: Hackney land use map

61
Page 89



DR
AF
T

Appendix C: List of consultees

Local Authorities are required by law to consult on their policies. Broadly,
consultation included the following groups:

● The Chief Officer of Police
● City and Hackney Safeguarding Children Board
● Local residents, Resident Associations and Councillors
● Trade associations and businesses who hold premises licences
● Responsible Authorities
● Community and faith organisations and those working with problem

gamblers and young people; and
● Neighbouring licensing authorities.

The summary of comments made on the Gambling Statement of Principles
and their consideration by the Licensing Authority is available on request by
contacting the Licensing Service.

62
Page 90



DR
AF
T

Appendix D: Table of delegations of licensing functions

Matter to be dealt with Full
Council

Licensing
Committee

Sub-committee Officers

Three year licensing
statement X

Resolution not to permit
casinos X

Fee Setting - when
appropriate X

Application for premises
licences

Where
representations have
been received and
not withdrawn

Where no
representations
received/
representations have
been withdrawn

Application for a variation to a
licence

Where
representations have
been received and
not withdrawn

Where no
representations
received/
representations have
been withdrawn

Application for a transfer of a
licence

Where
representations have
been received from
the Commission

Where no
representations
received from the
Commission

Application for a provisional
statement

Where
representations have
been received and
not withdrawn

Where no
representations
received/
representations have
been withdrawn

Review of a premises licence X
Application for club gaming /
club machine permits

Where
representations have
been received and
not withdrawn

Where no
representations
received/
representations have
been withdrawn

Cancellation of club gaming/
club machine permits

Where
representations have
been received and no
hearing is requested

Where no request for a
hearing is received

Application for other permits X

Cancellation of licensed
premises gaming machine
permits

X

Consideration of temporary
use notice

X

Decision to give a counter
notice to a temporary use
notice

X

63
Page 91



DR
AF
T

Appendix E: Crime and Disorder Maps

64
Page 92



DR
AF
T

Appendix F: Schools, colleges and nurseries map

65
Page 93



DR
AF
T

Appendix G: Table of exemptions

Exemptions from Types of gambling and permissions
Operating Licence • Small society lotteries

• Incidental non-commercial lottery
• Private lottery
• Customer lottery

Premises Licence • Occasional use notice
• Football pools
• Temporary use notice

Operating Licence
and Premises
Licence

• Family entertainment centre gaming machine permit
• Club/miners’ welfare institute: equal chance gaming
• Club gaming permit
• Club machine permit
• Equal chance gaming, on licensed premises
• Gaming machines: automatic entitlement, on licensed
premises
• Licensed premises gaming machine permit
• Travelling fair gaming machine
• Prize gaming permit
• Other prize gaming
• Ancillary equal chance gaming at travelling fairs
• Private gaming and betting
• Non-commercial prize gaming
• Non-commercial equal chance gaming

66
Page 94



DR
AF
T

Appendix H: Hackney map of the locations of betting
premises licences

67
Page 95



DR
AF
T

68
Page 96


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Late Night Levy - Year 7, Quarter 1
	1. Appendix 1 - Late Night Levy - Year 7 Q1

	6 Draft Statement of Principles for Gambling
	2. Appendix 1 - Draft Statement of Gambling Principles 2025-2028.docx


